EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PENNS PLACE
PETERSFIELD
HAMPSHIRE
GU31 4EX
Telephone:
Website:

01730 266551
www.easthants.gov.uk

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE AGENDA
Date:

Monday 18 October 2021

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield

Membership: Councillor A Glass (Chairman)
Councillors D Evans (Vice-Chairman), K Budden, G Hill, S Hunt, M Johnson,
C Louisson, S Pond, A Williams and E Woodard

Public Attendance
Please note that the Council Chamber has very limited capacity to safely
accommodate members of the public in a Covid secure manner. Please contact the
named officer below if you wish to attend in person but note that priority will be given
to those who have registered to make a deputation, otherwise we would encourage
attendance virtually via the webcast on the Council’s website.
The business to be transacted is set out below:
Daniel Toohey
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: 8 October 2021
Contact Officer:

Lydia Merriman 01730 234073
Email: lydia.merriman@easthants.gov.uk

Page

1

Apologies
To receive apologies for absence.

2

Confirmation of Minutes

1-6

Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice,
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect
of the Minutes.
To approve the minutes of the last meeting.
3

Chairman's Announcements

4

Declarations of Interest
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act
2011. You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the
meeting discusses and votes on the matter.

5

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan (as Modified April 2021)

7 - 128

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE,
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.
Internet
This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk
Public Attendance
Please note that the Council Chamber has very limited capacity to safely
accommodate members of the public in a Covid secure manner. Please
contact the named officer below if you wish to attend in person but note that
priority will be given to those who have registered to make a deputation,
otherwise we would encourage attendance virtually via the webcast on the
Council’s website.
Disabled Access
All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.
Emergency Procedure
Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will
sound.
PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.
DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.
No Smoking Policy
All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and ground

iii

.

iv

Agenda Item 2
1

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE
6 July 2021

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
At a meeting of the Planning Policy Committee held on 6 July 2021

Present
Councillor: A Glass (Chairman)
Councillors: D Evans (Vice-Chairman), K Budden, G Hill, S Hunt, M Johnson,
C Louisson, S Pond, A Williams and E Woodard
6

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.

7

Chairman's Announcements
There were no chairman’s announcements.

8

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.

9

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Spatial Strategy Preferred Option
The Acting Planning Policy Manager introduced the item and gave a
background to the Local Plan.
In January 2021, Full Council approved that a hybrid approach to the
progressing of the Local Plan would be taken which involved the extension of
the plan period by two years up to 2038 to ensure that there would be a
minimum of 15 years from the date of adoption which was the national
requirement. This inevitably meant that more homes would be required to meet
development needs.
The next formal stage of the Local Plan was a Regulation 19 consultation which
was a consultation on EHDC’s preferred plan before it was submitted for
examination which was scheduled for April 2022. It was considered that a
preferred spatial strategy should be agreed beforehand to give clarity on the
sites chosen to form development allocations. Having sites in the public
domain early in the Local Plan process would allow more detailed work to be
undertaken in regard to the sites. It would allow design workshops with various
stakeholders, including parish and town councils to commence to develop site
specific policies. It was important for local residents to shape development of
the local sites in order to achieve the best outcomes.
Also, identifying a preferred spatial strategy may also assist with decisions on
planning applications submitted ahead of this milestone. The Council could
currently demonstrate in excess of five years’ worth of deliverable housing, but

Page 1

2

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE
6 July 2021

this had to be monitored annually and needed to be considered when
assessing applications.
The core elements to the options being presented to the committee
represented approximately 2,600 homes. As well as the reduction in the
quantum at Whitehill & Bordon, there had been a number of other changes to
the context of the local plan. Of these, most significant was that the
Government had proposed significant changes to the planning system through
its planning White Paper with a renewed focus on delivering net gain in built
and natural environments. In addition, the Covid 19 pandemic had created a
focus on dealing with economic and social recovery, whilst the climate change
emergency declared by EHDC and other public bodies was also significant. In
terms of biodiversity, nutrient neutrality was now sought from development in
the southern parishes and the Itchen and Meon catchments. Also, the delays
to the Local Plan in regard to the national policy requirements required an
extension to the plan period to 2038. Taking all of this into account, the four
reasonable alternatives consisted of 2,600 dwellings on core sites, plus one of
the following sites or collection of sites:
Option 1 was incremental growth – a selection of other sites, namely White Dirt
Farm in Horndean, Land at Five Heads Road in Horndean, White Down Lane in
Alton and Land East of Old Odiham Road. This would be up to approximately
400 dwellings across the selection of sites.
Option 2 consisted of land at Chawton Park Farm in Alton for up to 1,200
dwellings.
Option 3 – Land at Neatham Down, approximately 500/600 homes.
Option 4 – Two of the South Medstead large development sites which would be
approximately 1,000 dwellings across the two large sites.
Although all reasonable alternatives would meet the identified local housing
needs, it was considered Option 2 would best address these needs in the most
sustainable and flexible manner. This could total up to 3,600 new homes. The
Acting Planning Policy Manager outlined the reasons why the other options
were considered weaker.
The Chairman reminded members that the Planning Policy Committee was a
strategic committee responsible for overseeing policy strategy. It was important
that the EHDC Draft Local Plan moved forward and the committee this evening
was part of that process. EHDC had to produce a Local Plan which must be
sound, particularly when it came to examination, in order to have planned
development. Without a sound local plan, development would come forward
without the infrastructure that was required to provide sustainable communities
within the district.
The Chairman invited councillors to ask questions of officers and debate the
application.

Page 2

3
Planning Policy Committee (6.7.21)

Following on from consultation, Northbrook Park appeared to be a preferable
option but had not been included in the list, whereas the number of objections
raised against Chawton Park Farm gave a clear indication as to how the public
felt. The officer advised that the good response to the large sites had aided
officers; however, they had to consider the environmental constraints
associated with large development sites that had been identified by
organisations such as Natural England.
Concern was expressed with regard to the access to Chawton Park Farm.
Whilst the officer acknowledged that one of the biggest issues with this site was
around transport, in particular the bridge; Planning Policy had held high level
discussions with HCC in regard to all of the large sites and by selecting sites
now, it would allow more detailed discussion going forward. Officers did not
envisage it being an overriding constraint but now needed to find the best
solution which would come out from their further work.
In response to a question raised as to whether what the committee was being
asked to approve was premature, the officers confirmed that a lot of work had
already been undertaken with regard to the sites and the two consultations had
provided enormous feedback and allowed information to be gathered. The
stage at which the local authority was currently at was talking about a broad
strategy based on the principle of development on the sites before the
committee in order that officers could engage with consultees in the public
domain and specifically in partnership with town/parish councils who had a
keen understanding of their area.
It was felt that the possibility of Northbrook Park should be explored again in
order to act as a safety net, in case any of the preferred sites could not
proceed. In reply, officers had concluded that Option 2, Chawton Park Farm,
was the most appropriate, sustainable, and flexible option to take forward and
there were no overriding constraints based on the technical work undertaken
through the Sustainability Appraisal process and other assessments. Officers
felt that they were in a good position and as confident as they could be at this
point, without having gone into the details which they would look to do on the
basis of the committee’s agreement with the recommendation outlined in the
report. Northbrook Park had been discounted due to flood risk affecting areas
to the South of the A31 and the resulting impacts this could have on
development capacity. Due to the climate emergency, flooding was a growing
risk. Unfortunately, it was considered there was no more additional work that
could be undertaken that would give a different conclusion for Northbrook Park
in terms of national policies for plan-making.
Some concerns remained and it was commented that the housing need should
be looked at again, especially given the scale of the proposals before the
committee. However, other members noted that the Council had already
undertaken a large sites assessment, the results of which had been presented
to the Local Plan Working Group. Further work had been carried out in more
detail since that time and whilst it was acknowledged that more work needed to
be done on the recommended site, the committee’s purpose was to make a
strategic decision to move the Local Plan process forward in order that there

Page 3

4

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE
6 July 2021

would be a robust Local Plan in place by 2023. This would enhance the district,
have good spatial awareness and identify where it could be expected that
development would take place in order to protect East Hampshire from
aggressive development.
Cllr Hunt proposed that the committee deferred the decision until after the next
Local Plan Working Group at which he requested detailed discussions with
officers about which options may be open to produce a local calculation for
housing need as opposed to the standard formula. He felt that it may be
decided that an alternative option, as opposed to Option 2 may be more
appropriate.
This was seconded by Cllr Woodard.
Comments from the committee were that it was felt that looking at the housing
numbers could be carried out in parallel with continuing the work on the local
plan and would therefore not require a delay. However, the Acting Planning
Policy Manager did not feel it would be pragmatic to further explore deviations
of something that had been well established. The standard methodology had
come into force in 2018 and everything that had gone through the emerging
local plan since work had started on it in 2018 had gone through the Local Plan
Working Group and the various committees to date, all of that had been very
much focused around the standard methodology. Officers felt that a bespoke
approach was a high-risk approach and that the NPPF was clear that as well as
local planning authorities meeting their own derived housing needs, they should
also meet any unmet needs from neighbouring areas. In the case of East
Hampshire, this included meeting the needs of those part of the district that fell
within the South Downs National Park, in which the environmental constraints
reduced the National Park Authority’s ability to meet its own housing needs.
Following the vote, the proposal for deferral was declared LOST, 2 Councillors
voting FOR deferral, 8 Councillors voting AGAINST deferral and no Councillors
ABSTAINING from voting.
Cllr Glass, Chairman of the Planning Policy Committee proposed the
recommendation which was that the Committee were requested to
RECOMMEND to Council that:
Members note the different spatial options for the EHDC Local Plan 2017-2038
and approve the preferred option (Option 2) for the spatial strategy to feature in
the emerging East Hampshire Local Plan.
This motion was duly seconded by Cllr Evans.
Following the vote, the recommendation was declared CARRIED, 8 Councillors
voting FOR, 1 Councillor voting AGAINST and 1 Councillor ABSTAINING from
voting.

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and concluded at 8.22 pm

Page 4

5
Planning Policy Committee (6.7.21)

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
NON-EXEMPT
EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
18TH October 2021

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan Review

FOR DECISION

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass
Key Decision: No
Report Number: [EHDC/0321/21]
1.

Purpose

1.1.

This report is submitted to the Planning Policy Committee for onward
recommendation to Council.

1.2.

This report considers whether the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan (as
modified April 2021) should be adopted as part of the statutory development plan
(replacing the previous version ‘made’ in May 2016), following its successful
examination.

2.

Recommendation

2.1.

Members are requested to recommend to Council:
a.

That the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-2028 (as modified
April 2021) is adopted with immediate effect, so that it becomes part of the
statutory development plan for the area.
Page 1 of 11

Page 7

3.

Executive Summary

3.1.

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a right for communities to draw up
neighbourhood development plans. Alton Town Council, with support and advice
from the District Council (“the Council”), has reviewed and updated their
neighbourhood development plan (originally ‘made’ in May 2016 following a
positive referendum result) which has successfully passed its examination in
August 2021.

3.2.

The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 identifies the circumstances that might
arise as qualifying bodies seek to review ‘made’ neighbourhood plans. It
introduces a proportionate process for the modification of neighbourhood plans
where a neighbourhood development order or plan has already been made in
relation to that area. The Examiner determined as part of the Examination
process that the review of the Plan includes material modifications which do not
change the nature of the Plan and which would require examination but not a
referendum.

3.3.

Following independent Examination of the Plan, the Examiner concluded that the
Plan meets the Basic Conditions for the preparation of a neighbourhood plan
subject to a series of recommended modifications. As such, East Hampshire
District Council, as the local planning authority, should make the draft plan with
the modifications specified in the accompanying Examiner Report.

3.4.

As a result of the Examiners Report the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan
(as Modified April 2021) should be used to help East Hampshire District Council
decide planning applications in the designated area of Alton. As such, the plan
should be adopted or ‘made’, meaning that it should become part of the statutory
development plan.
Page 2 of 11

Page 8

3.5.

Legislation is clear that as local planning authority, the Council must make the
modified neighbourhood development plan if it is recommended by the examiner
to do so. As confirmed by the Examiner, the proposed changes to the Plan as part
of review, do not change the nature of the Plan and hence would not require a
further referendum once Examined. Therefore, members are requested to support
the recommendation of this report, so that the Alton Neighbourhood Development
Plan (as Modified April 2021) is made.

4.

Additional Budgetary Implications

4.1.

None.

5.

Background and relationship to Corporate Strategy and/or Business Plans
Background

5.1.

The production of a neighbourhood development plan (“NDP”) must follow a
regulatory process laid out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as
amended by the Localism Act 2011, and by Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012 and the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations
2012. The key stages in the preparation of NDPs are summarised below.
a) Designation of a neighbourhood area: the area covered by the neighbourhood
plan needs to be agreed by the Council.
b) Preparation of a draft neighbourhood plan - The ‘qualifying body’ (e.g. a parish
council), then prepares a draft NDP and evidence base.
c) Pre-submission publicity and consultation – The draft NDP is published by the
qualifying body for pre-submission consultation, for a minimum of 6 weeks.
d) Submission of the draft plan - The qualifying body formally submits the draft
NDP to the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The LPA checks whether the plan
Page 3 of 11

Page 9

accords with the relevant legislation, publicises the NDP for 6 weeks and appoints
an Independent Examiner.
e) Independent Examination - The NDP is examined by an Independent Examiner
to assess whether it meets the basic conditions that are established in legislation.
The Examiner then issues a report and, if the report is positive and the Council
agrees with it, the NP is then subject to referendum.
f) Referendum - The Council organises a referendum on the NDP, asking voters
whether it should be used for helping the Council (as local planning authority) to
decide planning applications in the designated area, and then publishes the
results.
g) Adoption – if the NDP is successful at referendum, it is ‘made’ by the Council.

5.2.

The entire Town Council area of Alton, with the exception of a small proportion
that lies within the South Downs National park was designated as the Alton
Neighbourhood Plan Area, for the purpose of preparing a NDP, on 30 May 2014.
Following Examination and a successful Referendum (93% in favour of the Plan),
the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan was made by East Hampshire
District Council on 12 May 2016 and became a statutory part of the Development
Plan.

5.3.

The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 identifies the circumstances that might
arise as qualifying bodies seek to review ‘made’ neighbourhood plans. It
introduces a proportionate process for the modification of neighbourhood plans
where a neighbourhood development order or plan has already been made in
relation to that area. There are three types of modification which can be made to a
neighbourhood plan or order. The process will depend on the degree of change
which the modification involves and as follows:


minor (non-material) modifications to a neighbourhood plan or order which would
not materially affect the policies in the plan or permission granted by the order.
These may include correcting errors, such as a reference to a supporting
document, and would not require examination or a referendum; or
Page 4 of 11

Page 10



material modifications which do not change the nature of the plan or order and
which would require examination but not a referendum. This might, for example,
entail the addition of a design code that builds on a pre-existing design policy, or
the addition of a site or sites which, subject to the decision of the independent
examiner, are not so significant or substantial as to change the nature of the plan;
or



material modifications which do change the nature of the plan or order would
require examination and a referendum. This might, for example, involve allocating
significant new sites for development.

5.4.

In line with the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, Alton Town Council took the
decision to review their ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. The Review has been
carefully prepared to refresh the Plan and to address changes in national and
local planning policy which have arisen since the initial plan was made. In
particular, the proposed changes are associated with Policy HO3 (New Housing
Site Allocations) to reflect more recent data in respect of completions,
commitments, and allocations.

5.5.

Two new sites were added as allocations, namely the former Molson Coors
Brewery and former Magistrates Court, totalling 326 dwellings, both of which have
come forward through the planning application process. Amendments were also
made to other allocations already featured in the ‘made’ Plan to reflect more
information on the amount of housing to be delivered.

5.6.

As a result of these changes, the revised plan (once ‘made’) would engage
paragraph 14 within the NPPF, effectively allowing greater protection of the
Neighbourhood Plan area for a two-year period. Specifically, if a planning
application were to be submitted for a proposal that conflicts with the
neighbourhood plan, the adverse impact of allowing development is likely to
viewed as significantly and demonstrably outweighing the benefits, subject to
housing supply and delivery tests that are specified in the NPPF (paragraph 14).

5.7.

Both the East Hampshire District Council and Alton Town Council considered that
the modifications are minor and not material. This was a view shared by the
Page 5 of 11

Page 11

Examiner, who was satisfied that the modifications are minor in their nature as
they update the Plan based on the ongoing development of sites allocated in the
made Plan and recent planning permissions within the settlement boundary. As a
result, following Examination, no referendum is needed.
5.8.

The Examiner’s report was received by the Council in August 2021 and the
independent examiner concluded that the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021)
meets the basic conditions for the preparation of a neighbourhood plan subject to
a series of recommended modifications.

5.9.

As confirmed by the Examiner, the proposed changes to the Plan as part of
review, do not change the nature of the Plan and hence would not require a
further referendum once Examined. Section 4 of the Neighbourhood Planning Act
2017 further requires a local authority to make the modified plan if it is
recommended by the examiner. The making of a NDP is therefore a legal
requirement following a positive recommendation from the examiner, except in
circumstances whereby making the plan would breach, or otherwise be
incompatible with, any retained EU or human rights obligations. The Council has
considered the matter and concluded that the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021),
including its preparation, does not breach, and would not otherwise be
incompatible with, any retained EU obligation or any of the Convention rights
(within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998) . The Examiner’s Report on
the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) also concluded that there were no
grounds for concluding that there was any breach or incompatibility with the
European Convention on Human Rights. Therefore, the Alton NDP (as Modified
April 2021) has successfully been recommended for adoption by the Examiner
and the Council is now under a statutory duty to make the Alton NDP (as Modified
April 2021) .

5.10.

The effect of making the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) is that it becomes
adopted as part of the statutory development plan (replacing the version ‘made’ in

Page 6 of 11

Page 12

May 2016), for purposes of deciding planning applications in Alton Town Council
area (outside the South Downs National Park).

Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Directorate Business Plan
5.11.

Once adopted, the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) forms part of the Council’s
statutory development plan and helps to meet the operational priorities identified
in the Corporate Plan, such as guiding and shaping new development, jobs and
infrastructure as well as meeting the corporate priority of assisting neighbourhood
development plans as set out in the Business Plan.

6.

Options considered

6.1.

In line with the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, the making of the Alton NDP
(as modified April 2017) is a mandatory legal requirement if recommended by the
Examiner. In its role as the local planning authority, the Council is therefore under
a statutory duty to adopt and ‘make’ the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021).
There are no other reasonable options.

7.

Resource Implications

7.1.

Financial Implications: there are no additional resourcing implications, with the
costs incurred for publishing the NDP being met within the existing budget.

Page 7 of 11

Page 13

7.2.

Once the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) is ‘made’, 25% of Community
Infrastructure Levy receipts generated from development within Alton Town
Council boundaries (outside the South Downs National Park) will continue to be
passed to the Town Council.

Section 151 Officer comments
Date: 15/09/2021
There are no financial implications to the authority contained within this report.

7.3.

Human Resources Implications: There are no additional human resource
implications. Staffing costs for publishing the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021)
can be met within existing resources.

7.4.

Information Governance Implications: There are no implications in relation to
Information Governance. The publishing of the Alton NDP (as Modified April
2021) will not involve the use of personal sensitive or confidential information.

7.5.

Links to Shaping the Future Programme: None

Shaping our Future Lead comments
Date: 06/09/2021
This is business as usual activity and has no implications for the SoF Programme.

7.6.

Other resource implications: None.

8.

Legal Implications

8.1.

In accordance with Section 38(A) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 (as amended by the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017) the making of the
Page 8 of 11

Page 14

Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) is a mandatory legal requirement following the
recommendation to do so by the examiner. The Council is therefore under a
statutory duty to adopt and ‘make’ the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021).

8.2.

Upon being ‘made’, the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) will be subject to a
statutory period of time (six weeks) within which a legal challenge can be lodged.

8.3.

The making of the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) will be published in
accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

Monitoring Officer comments
Date: 15/09/2021
No further comments.

9.

Risks

9.1.

The Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) has been produced following a statutory
process by Alton Town Council, with the assistance of officers from the Planning
Policy team. Following consultation with Natural England, the Environment
Agency and Historic England, it was determined that no Strategic Environmental
Assessment was required for the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021), as the plan
is unlikely to generate any significant environmental effects.

9.2.

There are no significant residual risks that cannot be fully minimised by existing
procedures.

Page 9 of 11

Page 15

10.

Consultation

10.1.

Alton Council has carried out informal and formal consultation during the drafting
of the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) with the local community, businesses,
landowners and other statutory stakeholders. The Council has also carried out a
consultation on the plan in accordance with statutory requirements.

11.

Communication

11.1.

Following a decision to adopt the Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021), Alton Town
Council and others who asked to be informed will be notified by e-mail that the
plan has been ‘made’. The Alton NDP (as Modified April 2021) and supporting
documents, including a decision statement, will be published on the Council’s
website and made available in line with the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations and the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement
(SCI). The use of hard copy documents and their location will be reconsidered
during a review of the SCI, prior to the next Local Plan consultation.

12.

Appendices

12.1.

Appendix A: Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan (as Modified April 2021)

13.

Background papers

13.1.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan Review - Examiner’s Report

Agreed and signed off by:
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (Signed off 06 September 2021)
Director: Simon Jenkins (Signed off 06 September 2021)
Page 10 of 11

Page 16

Monitoring Officer: Daniel Toohey (Signed off 15 September 2021)
Shaping the Future lead: Vicki Potts (Signed off 06 September 2021)
Section 151 Officer: Lydia Morrison (Signed off 15 September 2021)

Contact Officer:
Name:

Adam Harvey

Job Title:

Acting Planning Policy Manager

Telephone: 07341 462872
E-Mail:

adam.harvey@easthants.gov.uk

Page 11 of 11

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Alton

Neighbourhood Development Plan
2011 to 2028
As modified April 2021
Page 19

Alton Town Council, Town Hall, Market Square, Alton, Hampshire, GU34 1HD

Page 20
2

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Foreword

ALTON TOWN MAYOR
Town Hall
Market Square
Alton
Hampshire
GU34 1HD
Telephone 01420 83986

Email info@alton.gov.uk

Dear Fellow Altonians,
It is my honour to write this introduction to the updated version of the Alton
Neighbourhood Plan. The previous version was adopted in a referendum in 2016 by a
massive majority of Altonians. Since then its policies have benefitted us by giving us
an increased influence on the decisions that affect the development of our town.
However development and planning do not stand still and we are required to keep it
up to date if it is to continue to “carry weight” in planning decisions. In particular, the
government requires us to maintain an adequate supply of land for new housing.
Alton Town Council thoroughly considered the options regarding the Neighbourhood
Plan. East Hampshire District Council is working on a new Local Plan that will,
amongst other issues, address how the longer-term housing needs of the area are to be
met. The government has said that it plans to make major changes to the planning
process, including the role of Neighbourhood Plans. In the light of these two factors,
your council did not feel it was appropriate to produce a completely new plan at this
time. The policies and aspirations in the existing plan remain relevant and are
ongoing. Instead we resolved to update the housing supply policies to reflect the
changes that have occurred since the plan was adopted. These result from the two
town centre sites that have become redundant from their former use, and the
development that has been completed on the newer housing sites. This new updated
version of our Neighbourhood Plan will allow us to retain a say in the future of our
town and to resist unwanted speculative development.
Despite the limited scope of the modifications, the production of this plan has
required a substantial amount of work from several people, most of whom have been
working in a voluntary capacity. They are acknowledged at the end of this document.
I would like to thank everyone for their tireless and public-spirited work. I would also
like to thank everyone who has responded to our public consultation. Your comments
have been noted and your support has enabled us to move forward in the confidence
that this Plan reflects the desires of most Altonians.
Yours sincerely
Councillor Graham Titterington

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 21
3

Foreword
This Neighbourhood Development Plan has been written in response to a requirement
for Alton to accept significant development over the years 2011 to 2028. It is a natural
progression from the Alton 2020 Town Plan published in 2005 and other follow on work
such as the Town Design Statement, all of which demanded significant amounts of public
consultation and feedback. The response from the public for this plan has been excellent
and the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group (NPSG) has worked hard to capture all
feedback as evidence to support legally enforceable policies in the Plan.
Altonians really care about their town and want it to retain its
charm, character and setting into the future whilst accepting
that development must happen. Alton 2020 recognised that
Alton needed to grow to become more sustainable.
I believe that this Plan, where sometimes hard decisions
have had to be taken, has ensured that Altonians continue
to play a significant part in how the town evolves into the
future. I thank the NPSG who have, on a voluntary basis,
given up significant amounts of their spare time to pursue
implementation of this Plan over a period of almost
24 months and the public for their support.
2021 : I am delighted with the continued utility of this
Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) since its
endorsement and publication in 2016. Alton Town Council
(ATC) and East Hants District Council (EHDC) have embraced
the Policies and Action Points to the benefit of the town and
its surrounding settlements. Inevitably plans go out of date
as they age and updates are required, this being the situation
ATC finds itself in with this NDP. So I commend them for
taking the initiative to carry out work to produce the modified
Plan as an interim measure, this being before a full review of
the NDP after a new EHDC Local Plan is published.
A lot of work has been undertaken by the modified ANP
Steering Group, Councillors and Officers, with considerable
support from EHDC. The public have been formally consulted
and their opinions listened to on all changes. The demand for
development to meet Government quotas is therefore being
met, to ensure the best possible outcome for the town and
its evolution.

Page 22
4

Mike Heelis MBE, Chair of
the Alton Neighbourhood
Plan Steering Group

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Contents

Page
1. Introduction

6

2. Local planning context

7

3. Plan development

9

4. Overview of Alton

10

5. Plan scope and objectives

13

6. Plan policies
Design
Housing
Transport
Community, health and recreation			
Education
Economic sustainability and viability

15
17
23
39
57
76
80

7. Going forward

87

Acknowledgements

88

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 23
5

1. Introduction
This Neighbourhood Development Plan has been created by Alton Town Council in
Hampshire in order to shape the town’s growth up to 2028. It has been written to become
a part of East Hampshire District Council’s (EHDC’s) statutory Development Plan (the
plan for the whole district) and it sets out a range of non-strategic policies which will guide
planning decisions made by the local planning authority in respect of Alton. It therefore
covers the same period of time as the statutory Development Plan, which is 2011 to 2028.
The Neighbourhood Development Plan makes use of powers that were brought about by
the Localism Act 2011 and its subsequent regulations. They name town and parish councils
as ‘qualifying bodies’ which may produce a Plan for their area. The intention is to ensure
that Alton residents have a greater say than they otherwise would have in the way that the
area grows and changes. There is a desire to see development which reflects the needs of
local people and brings benefit to the town.
This document therefore takes heed of local people’s views, as expressed through various
means of consultation and engagement, as well as taking account of evidence about needs,
existing policies in the East Hampshire Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, and the National
Planning Policy Framework, with its emphasis on sustainable development (the latter
including its sister document, the National Planning Practice Guidance).
The remainder of this document:
•
•
•
•
•

Provides information about the local planning context;
Gives an overview of Alton;
Outlines the Plan’s scope and objectives;
Sets out each of the Plan policies and linked action points;
Comments on future monitoring and implementation work.

The modification process has sought to review and update the residential allocations.
The site allocation process was agreed with EHDC and is summarised as follows:
• Identify sites within the Neighbourhood Plan Designated Area through EHDC,
from latest land availability assessment (LAA, December 2018) and sites subsequently
promoted or identified through the emerging Local Plan process
• Undertake an initial short-listing of sites to discount those which are promoted for
non-residential uses or which lie outside the Settlement Boundary Policy or which are
not made available for the Neighbourhood Plan review
• Subject the ten shortlisted LAA sites at Alton to preference criteria including:
- Consistency with Neighbourhood Plan policies and objectives
- Environmental and Heritage constraints
- Other site constraints e.g. contamination / noise / topography / access
- Planning history
• Review the existing Neighbourhood Plan allocation sites to determine if a change is
required to the allocation.

Page 24
6

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

2. Local planning context
East Hampshire Local Plan Joint Core Strategy
The Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy was produced by EHDC and the South Downs National
Park Authority. The document, which sets out its policies, was formally adopted in May and
June 2014 following its successful examination in public. Therefore an up to date Local Plan
with strategic policies covering Alton is in existence.
In total there is an expectation that 1,731 new dwellings will be built at Alton between
2011 and 2028. 1,031 of these already have planning permission to be built or are on sites
that were previously allocated for development or are expected windfall sites.
The Joint Core Strategy (2014) cites Alton as a location which is relatively well suited to take
sustainable development (policy CP2). It makes a housing allocation of 700 (minimum) new
dwellings at Alton over the period from 2011 to 2028 (policy CP10). The examination of
that Strategy noted a shortage of available brownfield sites within the built up area and that
development would therefore probably be on edge of town greenfield sites.
1,731 dwellings represents a major expansion of the town. In 2013 an Alton Study was
conducted by consultants commissioned by EHDC. It took a long-term view of the town,
beyond this plan period, and concluded that this level of development could be sustainable
if local constraints were managed.
This Neighbourhood Development Plan includes allocations already made by EHDC, and
identifies appropriate allocation sites for the 700 (minimum) new dwellings, all of them
being sites which have come forward as a result of the District Council’s Strategic Housing
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) process.
This process:
• Called for available development sites, the most recent call being that run in
summer 2014;
• Undertook an initial short listing of the available sites to discount those which were 		
clearly inappropriate e.g. unsustainable;
• Subjected the thirteen shortlisted SHLAA sites at Alton to a full Sustainability
Assessment, this being conducted by external consultants to consider their
environmental, social and economic pros and cons on a comparable basis.
That formed a key input to the Neighbourhood Development Plan, which considered
the thirteen SHLAA sites. Further relevant evidence about sites was contained in the
Landscape Capacity Study which was published by the District Council in 2013. However,
where applicable, the number of likely dwellings shown for each site is based on the latest
planning decisions available.
Hampshire County Council, as the Local Highways Authority with financial support from
the District Council, has been undertaking an Alton Strategic Transport Study (published in
June 2015), which was instigated as a result of the town’s Neighbourhood Development
Plan work. This has been considering strategic transport needs, given the expected overall
housing growth, as well as providing additional evidence in the form of traffic counts and
forecasts for potential development sites and new highway infrastructure.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 25
7

2. Local planning context
Designated area
The designated Neighbourhood Development Plan area is all of the Town Council area
except for a small strip of uninhabited farm land at the southern tip, which falls within the
South Downs National Park. This designation was formally agreed by the local planning
authority (EHDC) on 8th May 2014 in line with the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012.

Designated Area of Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan
© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 26
8

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

3. Plan development
In line with legislative requirements, the Neighbourhood Plan was supported by the submission
of the following documents:
• A Basic Conditions Statement, showing how the Plan met the necessary legal
requirements; and
• A Consultation Statement, summarising the engagement with residents, businesses
and stakeholders, and how their input was used. Throughout the process considerable
emphasis was placed on reaching local people, listening to their views and testing out
proposals with them.
This Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with all relevant primary and
secondary legislation, which is principally Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Localism Act 2011, and the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012 (as later amended). This ensures that the plan policies meet the
‘basic conditions’.
In accordance with the legislation, in February 2021 Alton Town Council publicised its
intention of reviewing the Neighbourhood Plan, explaining its approach and inviting
comments. As Covid-19 restrictions were in place, it was not possible to hold any community
events. Details were sent to statutory consultees, and information was delivered by Royal
Mail to every household in the Town, as well as being widely publicised on the Council’s
website and on social media. The response was overwhelmingly supportive.

A part of the Launch Event

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 27
9

4. Overview of Alton

Aerial view of Alton

Alton is an historic and characterful market town in East Hampshire.
Population: at the time of the 2011 Census it had a resident population of 17,816 within
the Town Council boundary. Most of these live in the town, although the boundary extends
across a ‘strategic Gap’ in the built area to include the village of Holybourne.
Landscape: Alton is set within a distinctive chalk landscape setting, at the source of the
River Wey. It sits relatively hidden in a hollow, which is encircled by sloping downland
that provides a green skyline. Someone passing by on the A31 road could be forgiven for
not realising the town lies nearby. Immediately to the south west is the northern edge of
the South Downs National Park. Within the town are a number of cherished public open
spaces, such as Kings Pond, Flood Meadows, Anstey Park, The Butts, the Public Gardens
and St Lawrence Churchyard.

Page 28
10

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

4. Overview of Alton

Built area: although Alton has expanded in
recent decades, the built-up area remains
relatively contained within an area about
3 kilometres long and 2 kilometres wide.
The built environment can be described as
having four elements, namely: central older
areas; outer residential areas; industrial
areas; and Holybourne village. There are
four Conservation Areas, three in Alton
and one in Holybourne.
Transport: there is a twice-hourly direct
rail service into central London, with Alton
being at the end of the line. The town
sits just off the A31 dual carriageway –
which acts as a southern bypass – running
from Guildford to Winchester, and it is
connected to Basingstoke to the north
by the A339. There are substantial
commuting flows into, out of and through
the town. At some junctions and pinch
points, traffic congestion regularly occurs
at peak hours.
Town centre: the main focus of the town
centre is the High Street, which runs south
west to north east, with the Market Square
just off this axis in Lenten Street. It is a
commercial and social hub for the town
and its rural hinterland, and there is a
popular weekly street market. That said,
there are a number of vacant retail units.
As a retail and service centre, Alton serves
as many people from outside the town as
from within. In particular, it attracts
pupils to its secondary schools and sixthform college.
Alton from the air, 2007

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 29
11

4. Overview of Alton

Economy: the town’s mixed economy
includes two fair-sized light industrial
estates. Most businesses have been long
established in the area, although there is
evidence of a growing number of knowledge
based businesses. Brewing, which had been
a significant local industry, has declined and
the town’s remaining brewery closed during
2015. There are some tourist attractions,
including the Watercress Line steam railway,
and nearby are Jane Austen’s house at
Chawton and Gilbert White’s house at
Selborne.
A typical scene in the industrial area

Community: Alton can boast a generally high
quality of life and it is a popular, safe place to
live. As well as the schools, facilities include
various health-care facilities, a Community
Centre and a Sports Centre. There is a
strong sense of community and the people
who live here identify with Alton. It has an
active Town Council, based at the Town Hall
in the Market Square, which manages local
assets such as open spaces, sports pitches,
games pavilions and the Assembly Rooms.
There are various residents’ associations, an
Alton Society and Alton Charities Together,
amongst other groups.

The Assembly Rooms

Page 30
12

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

5. Plan scope and objectives
The Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan covers the period to 2028 and so is aligned
with the timescale of the East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy.
The prime driver for this Plan is to manage growth positively. Taken together, developments
which are already underway and those that will result from the Joint Core Strategy allocation
represent a significant expansion of Alton. The town’s population could increase by as much
as 25% in a period of thirteen years. It is clear from the level of developer interest and
recent planning applications that this scale of growth is likely.
This raises both opportunities and challenges for sustainable growth. Alton Town Council
and its residents want to ensure that:
• Development takes place in appropriate locations;
• It happens in ways which contribute to meeting local needs; and
• Local infrastructure is able to expand at the same pace.
Growth needs to respect various constraints in the area, for example those associated with
transport networks, landscape, and flooding. It could equally boost town centre viability
and help deliver better facilities and services.

Key constraints:

Main opportunities:

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Maintaining landscape setting
Areas of significant flood risk
Limitations of current road network
Capacity of existing sewerage system

Providing homes to meet local needs
Boosting town centre viability
Improving services and facilities
Enhancing public open spaces

The Neighbourhood Development Plan seeks to balance these constraints and
opportunities, taking into account the preferences of local people and the practicalities of
creating a deliverable Plan.
The Alton Charter set out the scope of the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan.
It sought objectives and policies against five themes, which are:
•
•
•
•
•

Housing, including development site preferences;
Transport and parking;
Health, community and recreation facilities;
Schools and education;
Economic sustainability and viability.

Under these themes some 14 objectives were set and they are listed in the table below.
The themes and objectives draw upon the earlier work in Alton and were finalised after
assessing the evidence base, consulting widely and checking their alignment with local and
national planning policies.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 31
13

5. Plan scope and objectives

Themes

Neighbourhood Development Plan
objectives

Related Joint Core
Strategy policies

Main NPPF or
NPPG references

Housing
(including general
design issues)

1a. To ensure that future housing development
in and around Alton respects the character of the
town and the surrounding countryside.

CP2, CP20, CP25,
CP29, CP30, HE2, HE4,
HE5, HE6, HE7, HE8

NPPF Paragraphs
127, 131, 170, 172

1b. To ensure that new housing contributes to the
needs of the town in terms of the mix and design
of dwellings.

CP10, CP11, CP13,
CP29

NPPF Paragraphs
61, 62, 127

1c. To influence the location, scale and pace of
housing development over the plan period
(to 2028).

CP2, CP10, CP18,
CP20, CP21, CP23,
CP25, CP26, CP27,
CP28, H1

NPPF Paragraphs
103, 108, 111 - 113, 61,
65, 127, 92, 96, 98, 149,
150, 157, 170 - 172,
174, 175, 180, 189, 193

1d. To ensure that, in the context of sustainability
requirements specified by the NPPF, the necessary
infrastructural improvements will be implemented
in a manner appropriate to the location, scale and
pace of the proposed development.

CP31, CP32

NPPF Paragraphs
108, 109, 157

2a. To encourage and influence improvements in
the town’s infrastructure – particularly to manage
traffic – in order to meet current needs and those
arising from development.

CP31

NPPF Paragraphs
103, 104, 108, 109

2b. To encourage walking and cycling.

CP31, T3

NPPF Paragraphs
103 - 109

2c. To encourage the provision of public transport
services, both within the town and beyond.

CP31, T2

NPPF Paragraphs
103, 108

Transport

2d. To achieve appropriate levels of parking both on CP29, CP31
and off street.

NPPF Paragraph
105

3a. To support the development of a new/
refurbished Community Centre and a new Sports &
Leisure Centre in the town.

CP8, CP16, CP17,
HC2, HC3

NPPF paragraphs
92, 97

3b. To support the provision of adequate health
services for a growing population.

CP8, CP16, HC3

NPPF paragraph
92

3c. To support the retention of existing public open
spaces and the provision of new ones capable of
offering sport/ recreational opportunities in line
with population growth.

CP17, CP18, CP28

NPPF paragraphs
92, 96, 97, 99 - 101

Education

4a. To support the provision of sufficient nursery,
school and college places in Alton to meet the
growing demand, in accessible locations.

CP16, CP32

NPPF paragraphs
91, 92, 97

Economic
sustainability
and viability

5a. To protect and enhance the role of Alton town
centre as a retail, tourism and hospitality hub which
is vibrant and adaptable to future needs.

CP7, CP8, CP9

-

5b. To develop and enhance the business economy
of Alton and Holybourne, to ensure that the town is
economically sustainable.

CP3, CP4

NPPF Paragraphs
80, 81, 85, 117 - 121,
126, 127

Community, health
and recreation

Page 32
14

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies
This section sets out the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan policies. Each of these is
presented within a green box and is generally preceded by an account of relevant justification
and intent. The policies necessarily focus on issues concerning land use and development.
During the course of the work to produce the Plan a number of other actions were identified
which could not be framed or were best not framed as planning policies. Some were simply
not land use or development issues. They were, nevertheless, considered important given
the views expressed by local residents and given their fit with the Plan’s objectives. These
have become action points (instead of policies) which we, Alton Town Council, have agreed to
take forward. For ease of reference they are shown under the appropriate objective within
this section of the Plan.
HOAP
TRAP
CHAP
EDAP
ESAP

–
–
–
–
–

Housing Action Points
Transport Action Points
Community & Health Action Points
Education Action Points
Economic Sustainability Action Points

Furthermore, this Plan does not attempt to cover every land use and development issue.
This is partly to retain focus. It is also because it does not need to address issues considered
to be dealt with sufficiently by existing (district-wide) policies in the East Hampshire Local
Plan. Those policies will still apply where this Neighbourhood Development Plan is silent.
This Plan contains no policy for designating new employment land at Alton. Key potential
sites lie just outside or astride the Alton Town Council boundary and, as such, could not be
designated by this Plan. That designation task has therefore been left to EHDC, with whom
Alton Town Council will liaise.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 33
15

6. Plan policies

Summary Map of Allocated Sites also Including
proposed Employment Sites and Existing
Conservation Areas

Overall LAA Sites within which housing is planned:
1. Land East of Selborne Road
2. Treloar
3. Cadnam: As at April 2021 at an advanced stage
of build out or almost complete
4. Wilsom Road
5. Will Hall Farm: As at April 2021 at an advanced
stage of build out or almost complete
6. Land adjacent to Convent
7. Molson Coors
8. Alton Magistrates Court
Sites proposed by EHDC for Employment Use:
Lynch Hill
Wilsom Road
Existing Conservation Areas:
9. Alton (Town Centre)
10. Anstey
11. The Butts
12. Holybourne
Other Areas:
13. Railway station/transport hub
South Downs National Park

Page 34
16

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Design
DESIGN POLICIES
Policies in this section apply both to housing and other forms of development.

Objective 1a: To ensure that future housing development in and around Alton
respects the character of the town and the surrounding countryside.

DE1: Town setting and natural assets
Justification:
Alton’s setting, contained and largely hidden within a valley bowl in the North Hampshire
Downs landscape, is a defining feature which underpins its sense of place and is highly
valued. The following quotation, which is taken from the Alton Study (2013) written by
consultants for the District Council, sums it up well.

“The essence of Alton resides in the fact that the town is ‘hidden’ from the landscape
whilst being an integral part of it. Development has been constrained from breaking the
green skyline formed by the neighbouring hills, which can be seen from all parts of the
town. The undulating, yet open, nature of the land allows panoramic views which give
a sense of space, freedom and tranquillity. From most viewpoints surrounding Alton,
the town disappears within the landscape as development has not been extended to
the skyline.”

Hampshire Integrated Character Assessment - Alton Townscape Assessment (2010) describes the
historic core of the town as lying in the river Wey valley with the church and market place
standing on higher ground either side of the river source to the town’s western side. The
valley has been the defining influence on the growth of Alton. To its north is the ‘Lasham
downland mosaic’, comprising rolling chalk landforms and with long views across the Wey
valley. To its south is the ‘Worldham greensand terrace’ which is in transition to chalk hills
at this point, again with views across the River Wey. Landscape sensitivities that are noted
include the river course, areas of hanging woodlands and copses on the valley sides, and
the skyline and slopes of adjacent downland, where development and loss of tree cover
would be very visible from the valley floor. This would include designated sites within and
close to the Neighbourhood Development Plan area, such as Sites of Importance for Nature
Conservation. Such distinctive features should not be harmed.
The South Downs National Park (SDNP) was designated and became operational in April
2011. Alton sought to be included within the park boundaries, but this was not accepted
and only a very small part at the southern boundary of the town is included. However, Alton
is a gateway town and has a topography which delivers important views into and out of the
park. All efforts have been made within this Plan not to compromise this setting through
development on higher ground, including policies that allocate sites for housing.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 35
17

6. Plan policies - Design
The landscape and setting is fully described in the Alton Town Design Statement, a document
which is already used by the EHDC as a material consideration in determining planning
applications. Key elements include:
• River and flood plain: the river Wey rises naturally just west of the town, then runs
through flood meadows, before passing through the town and meandering north east.
A map of high and medium risk flood zones (3 and 2 respectively) can be found on
page 10 of the Alton Study (2013);
• Vistas: the most important vistas into and out of the town were defined for the TDS and
mapped at page 5 of that document, showing their direction of view;
• Skylines: the hill-top ridges that surround much of Alton and which create the effect of it
sitting within a bowl;
• Gateways: six gateways where roads enter the town are defined and shown on
page 24 in the Alton Study (2013), to which we have added a seventh.

Map of Alton Showing Important Views into and out of Town,
Gateways, Ridge and Valley Lines from the Town Design Statement

Page 36
18

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Design
These characteristics were considered by the formal Sustainability Assessment of
allocation sites, which was undertaken in 2014 to consider potential housing development
sites. They were also considerations within the Landscape Capacity Study (2013) for East
Hampshire District.
A further consideration is the area’s geology. If development were to extend up the hillsides
as far as the clay-with-flint capping, it could lead to surface water run off and compromise
sustainable drainage. There are several sites where development would need to pay
particular attention to drainage.
The Community Questionnaire conducted for this Neighbourhood Development Plan found
that the impact of new housing development upon the landscape and skylines was a major
concern for almost three quarters of respondents and a lesser concern for most of the
remainder. Its impact on town gateways was a major concern for over 60% of respondents
and a lesser concern for over 30%. Key issues from the Alton Town Design Statement are still
seen as highly relevant.
Intent:
This policy aligns with East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy policy CP20 which seeks to:
protect and enhance local distinctiveness and sense of place; protect and enhance
settlements in the wider landscape, land at the urban edge and green corridors extending
into settlements; and incorporate new planting to enhance the landscape setting of
development. It also respects East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy policy CP2, which expects
development to make the best use of previously developed land and buildings within built
up areas.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 37
19

6. Plan policies - Design

DE1 Town setting and natural assets
Development proposals that impact on the discreet setting of Alton within the
surrounding landscape must demonstrate that this setting is maintained.
Development proposals that impact on key views and gateways into and out of the
town, in particular from the National Park to the south, and as shown on the plan on
page 18, must demonstrate how they have responded positively to these views and
gateways.

DE2: Building design and town character
Justification:
Alton is an attractive market town, full of character and with a long history. Residents are
proud of their town and its heritage, whilst equally recognising that the town needs to grow
to become more sustainable into the future. It is vital, therefore, that the planning system
supports development which respects and contributes to that character in terms of its
design, architecture, layout and integration with the rest of the town.
Alton has four Conservation Areas, together with many statutory Listed Buildings. There
is also a supplementary (non-statutory) Local List of buildings worthy of some protection.
This was originally prepared by the Alton Society and then recognised by EHDC before
being updated in 2014. Furthermore, a decade ago Altonians took the opportunity of
creating a general vision and plan for their town (Alton 2020), and a key output from this
was the development of a Town Design Statement (TDS) published in 2008. Both of these
documents were the product of extensive public consultation, making use of a widely
recognised Market Towns Healthcheck approach. The guidelines in the Town Design
Statement are used by EHDC as a material planning consideration.
This approach is consistent with the design-led approach as captured in national planning
policy. The Plan sets out the Council’s approach towards a clear design vision and
expectations for development sites. This will ensure that applicants have as much certainty
as possible about what is likely to be acceptable.

Page 38
20

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Design
The built environment of Alton and Holybourne is described in some detail in
Chapter 5 (Architectural Overview) of the TDS. This distinguishes key features in different
neighbourhoods, which are: the three historic areas (historic centre, New Town and
Normandy Street/Anstey Street); the three outer residential areas (western area, southern
area and northern area); the industrial areas; and Holybourne. Design considerations which
were identified as being important through the work to create the TDS include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Setting and landscape;
High-quality design and respect for town character;
The provision of amenity spaces;
Complementary design of buildings;
Respect for architectural surroundings e.g. scale, materials and form;
Appropriate building heights;
The provision of public open space.

The four Conservation Areas have their own characteristics. The Historic Centre
(designated in 1970 and extended in 1982) has a medieval street pattern, many historic
buildings, the market square, St Lawrence Church and surviving brick pavements. Anstey
(designated 1995) is a largely residential area with buildings that mostly date from the
18th or 19th centuries, the predominant building material being red brick, although many
are rendered or white washed. Street-side and large gardens are a feature. The Butts
(designated 1975) is the grassed mediaeval archery ground surrounded by mature trees
and some late Victorian housing, mostly rendered and colour-washed. Listed 18th century
buildings include a current public house (The French Horn) and a former public house (Butts
House). Holybourne village (designated 1977) contains some thirty Listed Buildings from
the 16th to 19th centuries and the partly Norman Church of the Holy Rood. Mature trees,
flint walls and high hedges along the narrow lanes are features.
Relevant comments most frequently made by those responding to the Community
Questionnaire were that new development should be of high design quality and should fit in
with its surroundings.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 39
21

6. Plan policies - Design

DE2 Building design and town character
All development in Alton will be required to seek exemplary standards of design
and architecture with a high quality external appearance that respects those
characteristics of its setting.
In the context of Alton, the following should be taken into account to ensure that
development responds to the character and distinctiveness of the town.
•
		
		
		

Development should seek to maintain and wherever possible enhance the
character of its locality, paying particular attention to appropriate appearance,
size, scale and density. Building heights should be carefully considered in 		
respect of their impact on the skyline of the town, landscape and streetscene;

•
		
		
		
		

Where it is proposed to build to a higher density than that present in adjacent
development high-quality design must be employed to ensure that the proposal
integrates harmoniously with its surrounding environment. Any high density
residential developments must still be able to demonstrate access to adequate
levels of private amenity space;

•
		
		
		
		

The appearance and materials used in development should complement,
but do not necessarily need to imitate, the best examples of building and design
in the local vicinity. Once again such design should make appropriate reference
to the scale and form of the architectural surroundings. Quality, innovative
design will be encouraged where appropriate;

• Development should seek to conserve the significance of heritage assets and
		their setting.

The action point for Alton Town Council which relates to this objective is:
DEAP1: We should ensure that the Alton Town Design Statement is maintained in line with
the East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy and with the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Page 40
22

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6: Plan policies - Housing
HOUSING POLICIES
Objective 1b: To ensure that new housing contributes to the needs of the town
in terms of the mix and design of dwellings.

HO1: Housing mix on development sites
Justification:
It is important that developments cater for the range of local housing needs, offering an
appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and an appropriate mix of tenures. This will help ensure
that developments promote more sustainable communities, with people from different age
groups and backgrounds.
The East Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2013) acknowledged that the
district faces “acute pressures for affordable housing need”. The affordable housing need
across the whole district, based on net changes in household formation, was for 461
affordable dwellings per year over the next 5 years and for 256 affordable dwellings per
year over the next 17 years. According to the 2011 Census 68% of Alton households are
owner occupiers.
The district’s Homechoice list of those in housing need contained 1,985 households (April
2014). Of the 492 who expressed a need in relation to Alton, 286 (58%) were assessed as
needing a 1 bedroom dwelling, 138 (28%) as needing two bedrooms, 52 (11%) as needing
three bedrooms and 16 (3%) as needing four bedrooms. There is therefore a particular
need for smaller dwellings. This reflects the demographic profile of Alton, which consists of
30% one-person households (2011 Census).
Responses to the Community Questionnaire similarly found many with housing
affordability issues. Asked about difficulties finding suitable accommodation in Alton,
almost a fifth cited a lack of affordable housing for sale and around a fifth cited a lack of
affordable housing for rent. (These two groups may overlap.) A large majority thought it
important that new housing should help local people (including young people) to stay living
in Alton and Holybourne. The types of new housing that gain most support from residents
are starter homes, small homes and affordable homes.
Intent:
Policy HO1 therefore expects all new residential developments at Alton to include a mix of
dwellings, both in terms of size and tenure. Sustainable developments will include a good
proportion of smaller dwellings with one or two bedrooms.
The Joint Core Strategy policy expects 40% of the total number of dwellings being provided
on a site to be affordable dwellings. Affordable housing can include various tenures suited
to those whose needs are not met by the market, including social rented, affordable rented
and intermediate (or mixed tenure) housing. The affordable housing should be spread
across a new residential development, being located adjacent to market housing and not
simply clustered in distinct areas.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 41
23

6. Plan policies - Housing
This policy aligns with East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy policy CP11 which expects new
residential development to deliver a range of dwelling tenures, types and sized to meet
housing needs. It is also aligned with Joint Core Strategy policy CP13 which sets a target
for 40% of all new dwellings to be affordable housing, normally to be provided on site. The
tenure, type and size of affordable dwellings is to be negotiated with EHDC.

HO1 Housing mix on development sites
Housing development on allocated sites or other major (as defined by national
policy) housing development, must provide a range of dwelling types, tenures and
sizes to meet housing needs. On these sites, subject to being part of a wider mix,
the provision of housing that meets a range of community requirements, including
retirement, extra care housing and other housing for the elderly, those with special or
supported needs and those wishing to build their own home, will be supported.

HO2: Storage facilities for household waste
Justification:
Modern refuse and recycling practice means that households will have a number of bins and
containers which they need to store. If there is inadequate provision of storage for them,
they may be left in open view and detract from the quality of the street-level environment.
Recent experience in Alton is that adequate storage facilities have not always been
provided at developments. Guideline 5.10 of the Alton TDS also identified space for refuse
and recycling bins as important.

Waste Bin Storage at Barley Field Estate, Alton

Page 42
24

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing
Intent:
Policy HO2 therefore expects all
development, whether residential or nonresidential, to provide storage facilities
for household waste and recycling bins
and containers of a size and form which
means they can be hidden from direct view
from the street. Where storage facilities
are to service communal flats, provision
should be in proportion to the number of
dwellings. Where existing properties are
being converted or subdivided, provision
should similarly be adequate for the number
of dwelling spaces being created. This policy
aligns with East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy
policy CP29, which expects development to
make provision for waste and recycling bin
storage and collection within the site.

Waste Bin Storage at Barley Field Estate, Alton

Waste Bin Storage at Anstey Road, Alton

HO2 Storage facilities for household waste
New waste-generating residential development, including conversions or
subdivisions, will be expected to provide adequate off-street refuse storage hidden
from direct view from the street. The provision of off-street refuse storage must not
be to the detriment of the provision of an appropriate level of private amenity space
for either existing or future residents.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 43
25

6. Plan policies - Housing
The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
HOAP1: As a statutory consultee, we should ensure that adequate emphasis is given to the
provision of affordable housing and the priority of its allocation to local residents.
HOAP2: The Alton Local List (of buildings of architectural merit but which do not warrant
national listing, as endorsed by the Town Council and District Council), should be taken into
consideration when dealing with planning applications or other issues which may impact
the integrity and merit of such buildings. This List should be maintained and updated.
HOAP3: We will prompt EHDC to ensure that the highest environmental and energy
conservation standards are met.

Objective 1c: To influence the location, scale and pace of housing development
over the plan period (to 2028).
Objective 1d: To ensure that, in the context of the sustainability requirements
specified by the NPPF, the necessary infrastructural improvements will be
implemented in a manner appropriate to the location, scale, and pace of all
proposed development.

HO3: New housing site allocations
Justification:
Based on a Strategic Housing Market Assessment and Local Housing Requirements Study
(2013), EHDC made provision in its Joint Core Strategy for 10,060 new dwellings to be built
throughout the district over the plan period from 2011 to 2028. As a market town and the
district’s largest settlement, Alton received a strategic allocation of 700 (minimum) of these
new dwellings. As noted earlier, this is in addition to 1,031 dwellings previously allocated
or with existing planning permission or expected windfall sites. Given the shortage of
currently available and deliverable brownfield sites, this required development will largely
need to take place on edge-of-town greenfield sites.
EHDC runs an annual call for available sites for such development, to which any landowner
can respond. This process, including a call in summer 2014, resulted in a database of
available sites. As part of its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), EHDC
sifted out clearly inappropriate sites and shortlisted thirteen potential sites around Alton.
These were then subjected to a Sustainability Assessment by specialist consultants,
to review each site’s likely opportunities and constraints, taking account of a range of
environmental, social and economic factors. This was available to the Alton Neighbourhood
Plan Steering Group, as were other useful reports such as the East Hampshire Landscape
Capacity Study (2013).

Page 44
26

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing
The Community Questionnaire provided an
initial set of views from residents.
It found that the main concerns with
regard to new housing development were:
adequate infrastructure (a major concern
for 91%); environmental impact (87%);
traffic generation (80%); and impact on the
landscape and skylines (74%). Residents felt
strongly that infrastructure (roads, schools,
etc) must keep pace with and be in place for
housing growth. Residents also commented
frequently on the potential for water
run-off from slopes around the town to
impact development sites.

Evidence of rain water run-off leading to flooding
from high ground in North Alton across
Gilbert White Way

Evidence of rain water run-off leading to flooding from high ground in North Alton

Residents were asked about specific larger SHLAA sites. There was (net) support for
development at only one (Lord Mayor Treloar), although opposition to another was
relatively modest (Borovere). The scale of the allocation to Alton means, of course, that
other significant sites must be identified for development. Selecting them, however,
took particular account of residents’ views about infrastructure, environment, traffic and
landscape, including where impacts could be minimised or mitigated. It also took account
of views expressed at a further community engagement exercise in November 2014, when
more useful information about preferences was generated in response to a presentation on
emerging site allocations. The Modified Plan community engagement exercise in February
and March 2021 echoed this position.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 45
27

6. Plan policies - Housing
Comments provided to date by statutory bodies have been taken carefully into account.
Perhaps the most important are comments from Thames Water about public sewerage and
waste water infrastructure. Most development sites at Alton will require works to upgrade
and increase capacity in the current infrastructure.
Weighing up the preferences, evidence and constraints, sites have been selected which
meet the necessary criteria by being available for development, deliverable (built) within
the plan period and capable of development in a sustainable way.
Intent:
Policy HO3 allocates six sites at Alton with a total capacity for 877 new dwellings over the
plan period to 2028. Those sites are listed in the policy below.
The total allocation below takes account of three factors. First, the need to provide a
buffer (over and above the minimum 700), in line with good planning practice and in
case some sites do not come forward as expected. Second, a requirement placed on this
Neighbourhood Development Plan to compensate for a reduction by 60 in the number of
dwellings expected to be built on part of Lord Mayor Treloar which was allocated some
years ago. Third, the need to reflect outline planning permissions now granted for an
additional 156 dwellings at Land East of Selborne Road and Lord Mayor Treloar.
Additionally, the modification process reviewed and updated the allocation policies as
indicated in the table below.
The allocation made in this Neighbourhood Development Plan relates to the requirement
for the entire Neighbourhood Plan area, including Alton town and Holybourne village. This
makes use of the flexibility afforded to Neighbourhood Development Plans and the paucity
of suitable development sites in Holybourne.

HO3 New Housing Site Allocations
Permission will be given for new housing as set out in the table immediately below
and as shown on site allocation plans.
Site name

Policy
number

Dwelling
allocation

2021 Modification

Land East of Selborne Road

HO3(a)

242

Allocation to be modified in terms of
development capacity (reduced) due to now
having further detailed information regarding
site constraints as evidenced in planning
application number 30021/065.

Land at Lord Mayor Treloar

HO3(a)

280

Existing allocation retained as result of
either being at early stages of being built out
or have not yet commenced.

Land off Wilsom Road
(between numbers 60 and 86)

HO3(c)

11

Allocation to be modified in terms of
development capacity (reduced) due to now
having further detailed information regarding site
constraints as evidenced in planning application
numbers 55638/001 and 33920/008.

Land adjacent to Alton Convent
School, Anstey Lane

HO3(e)

18

Existing allocation retained as result of either
being at early stages of being built out or have
not yet commenced.

Molson Coors

HO3(f)

283

New housing site within existing Settlement
Policy Boundary coming forward through the
planning application process now.

Alton Magistrates Court

HO3(g)

43

New housing site within existing Settlement
Policy Boundary coming forward through the
planning application process now.

NB. For the avoidance of confusion, this amounts to
the total allocation at Lord Mayor Treloar and reflects
the outline planning permission granted in July 2015.

Total allocation 877

Page 46
28

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing
The Neighbourhood Development Plan is not in a position to specify the exact phasing of
development on these sites. The speed at which new housing can be built will be largely
dictated by infrastructure constraints, which will in practice spread delivery over much of
the Plan period.
The location of the six allocated sites is shown on the following proposals map of Alton.

Summary Map of Allocated Sites

Overall LAA Sites within which housing is planned:
1. Land East of Selborne Road
2. Treloar
3. Cadnam: As at April 2021 at an advanced stage
of build out or almost complete
4. Wilsom Road
5. Will Hall Farm: As at April 2021 at an advanced
stage of build out or almost complete
6. Land adjacent to Convent
7. Molson Coors
8. Alton Magistrates Court

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 47
29

6. Plan policies - Housing
The aim is to ensure sustainable development at each of these sites. The following
therefore provides, where appropriate, a description of the development that would be
permitted, information on constraints that must be addressed and information about public
benefits which they will be expected to deliver. It notes certain infrastructure requirements
that will have to be addressed before dwellings can be built or occupied. These will need
to be fully addressed within the documentation for site planning applications and after
having been properly considered to the satisfaction of the relevant statutory bodies. In
particular, developers should demonstrate there is adequate waste water/sewerage
capacity and surface water drainage, both onto and off the site, to serve their specific
development proposal and that it would not lead to problems for existing or new users. In
some circumstances this may make it necessary for developers to carry out appropriate
site specific drainage studies to ascertain whether the proposed development will overload
existing infrastructure. Where there is a capacity problem and no improvements are
programmed by the water company, the developer needs to agree required improvements
with the water company and their funding, prior to any occupation of the development.

Specific Housing Sites
The following provides policy information for each allocation site and a map showing site
boundaries, indicating any specific areas of land that are expected to be left as open green space.

Page 48
30

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing

HO3(a) Land east of Selborne Road site
Land is allocated East of Selborne Road (242 dwellings) and at Lord Mayor Treloar
(280 dwellings) for a total of 522 dwellings. This reflects planning permission
granted in July 2015. The developable boundaries of these sites are shown on the
following two plans.

Borovere Farm Site.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 49
31

6. Plan policies - Housing

0

380 m

Treloar Site, showing in green the areas
not to be developed.

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 50
32

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing
Policy HO3(b) (Land at Cadnam, Upper Anstey Lane)
At an advanced stage of build out or almost complete.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 51
33

6. Plan policies - Housing

HO3(c) Land off Wilsom Road (between numbers 60 and 86)
Land is allocated off Wilsom Road for a total of 11 dwellings. This reflects planning
permissions granted in October 2018 and March 2020. The developable boundary
of this site is shown on the following plan.

Wilsom Road Site.

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 52
34

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing
Policy HO3(d) (Land at Will Hall Farm)
At an advanced stage of build out or almost complete.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 53
35

6. Plan policies - Housing

HO3(e) Land adjacent to Alton Convent School, Anstey Lane
This 0.5 hectare site, comprising surplus and overgrown land to the rear of Alton
Convent School, is allocated for residential use.
The site will deliver a high quality development that will:
• Make provision for approximately 18 dwellings with an indicative net density
		 of 36 dwellings per hectare;
• Seek to retain or replace mature trees on site.

Convent Site.

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 54
36

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Housing

HO3(f) Molson Coors
Land is allocated at Molson Coors for 283 dwellings.  This reflects the resolution to
grant 250050/059. The developable boundary of this site is shown on the plan.

Molson Coors site

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 55
37

6. Plan policies - Housing

HO3(g) Alton Magistrates Court
Land is allocated at Alton magistrates Court for 43 dwellings.  This reflects the grant
of planning permission 56420/001. The developable boundary of this site is shown
on the plan.

Alton Magistrates Court site

Page 56
38

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
TRANSPORT POLICIES
The policies in this section seek to ensure that Alton’s future transport needs are properly
met, making allowance for the town’s planned growth. The road network will require
adaptation and improvement, and new housing developments will realistically need to
provide sufficient parking space. Policies will also make it easier for people to walk, cycle or
take public transport, thus reducing the demand for motorised transport.

Objective 2a: To encourage and influence improvements in the town’s
infrastructure – particularly to manage traffic – in order to meet current needs
and those arising from development.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 57
39

6. Plan policies - Transport

Alton’s Road Network

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.
Map copied from EHDC Alton Study Issue 5
dated 03 Jun 13 prepared for EHDC
by Urban Initiatives Studio Ltd.

Page 58
40

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport

Junctions known to be overloaded
at present during peak periods.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved
(100051853) 2015. Map copied from EHDC Alton Study Issue 5
dated 03 Jun 13 prepared for EHDC by Urban Initiatives Studio Ltd.

Butts Road – Whitedown Lane;
Whitedown Lane – Chawton Park Road;
Basingstoke Road – Whitedown Lane;
Wilsom Road – Ashdell Road – Paper Mill Lane – Mill Lane;
Mill Lane – Montecchio Way;
Anstey Road – Anstey Lane; and
London Road – Montecchio Way.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 59
41

6. Plan policies - Transport

Butts Bridge – a brick arch structure.

Page 60
42

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport

Roads in developments should be capable of adoption as public highway

The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
TRAP1: We will press the Local Highway
Authority to reduce the impact of traffic
flows on A339 Whitedown Lane. A
reduction in heavy traffic is most likely to be
achieved through the provision of a Western
Bypass.
TRAP2: We will prompt the Local Highway
Authority to prepare a timetable for works
to improve operation and reduce delays at
key junctions within the town, particularly:
• Anstey Road / Anstey Lane;
• Mill Lane / Paper Mill Lane / Ashdell Road /
Wilsom Road (at Spitalhatch);
• Butts Road / Winchester Road;
• Whitedown Lane / Chawton Park Road;
• Whitedown Lane / Basingstoke Road;
• Basingstoke Road / New Odiham Road;
• Mill Lane / Montecchio Way.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

“Severance” - heavy traffic on Whitedown
Lane cuts off the Leisure and Health
facilities from the rest of the town.

Page 61
43

6. Plan policies - Transport
TRAP3: We will work with the Local Highway Authority to improve the streetscape and
reduce traffic speeds in the town centre and in the vicinity of schools.

Enhancing the streetscape in the Town Centre remains a priority

Traffic speeds should be kept low near Schools

Page 62
44

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
Objective 2b: To encourage walking and cycling.

TR1: Pedestrian networks
Justification:
Alton is fortunate to have a network of footpaths and alleys that provide good pedestrian
permeability in much of the town, complemented by roadside pavements. This network
includes designated public footpaths leading from the town into the surrounding
countryside. Some paths connect well with public open spaces, offering attractive through
routes. Because the town is fairly compact it is relatively easy to move about on foot. Alton
has been accepted as a ‘Walkers are Welcome’ town and there is an annual walking festival.
Almost all those who responded to the Community Questionnaire said that they walked at
some time and over three-quarters did so frequently (an encouragingly high figure, though
in some cases this may include walking in conjunction with other modes e.g. to a bus stop).

The town has many public footpaths and bridleways

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015

Page 63
45

6. Plan policies - Transport
The questionnaire identified some impediments to walking. The main impediment to
walking was parking on pavements, with others citing narrow pavements, places without
pavements and a lack of safe crossing places. Asked about priorities for new provision the
majority of responses related to sites for potential new housing development. Over 200
specific comments were made by residents suggesting measures to improve walking.
Intent:
It is important that residents, commuters and
visitors to the town have opportunities to
move around on foot. Policy TR1 therefore
expects developments in Alton to provide
traffic free routes for pedestrians, including
pavements and footpaths.
It expects these to link up with the existing
network of pedestrian routes. This
permeability will enable residents moving in
to developments to make journeys on foot
and will enable other pedestrians to move
easily through development areas. It will
also assist wheelchair users.
This policy is aligned with East Hampshire:
Joint Core Strategy policy CP31, which
promotes the use of sustainable transport
modes. It similarly aligns with policy
objective 12 in the County Council’s
Local Transport Plan (2011).

Footpaths can provide attractive
links for pedestrians.

TR1 Pedestrian networks
Where appropriate, development proposals will provide linkages within, into and out
of the site that provide safe pedestrian access.  Pedestrian links will be traffic free
wherever possible. Proposals should react positively to any opportunity to broaden
the local footpath network within Alton.

Page 64
46

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
TR2 Cycle routes
Justification:
Some 72% of those responding to a question about cycle use on the Community
Questionnaire said that they used a bicycle and, of these, 32% frequently travelled by
bicycle. This compares very favourably with figures for other towns and observation
indicates that cycle usage in Alton has been growing. There is a National Cycle Route
(number 224) which enters the town from Medstead at the Sports Centre, runs through the
town and continues on to Farnham.
No major problem sites were identified for cyclists by the questionnaire, though some
junctions are known to cause difficulties. There is a network of public bridleways, byways
and quiet lanes in the surrounding countryside, but most routes to them leaving town can
be considered unsuitable due to traffic speeds and/or their narrow width. Over 300 specific
comments were made by residents suggesting measures to encourage cycling.
Intent:
Policy TR2 expects developments to offer cyclists the benefit of good connections to the
surrounding road network, wherever possible avoiding busy or potentially dangerous
roads. This should offer cycle routes towards the town centre and to other key destinations
including nearby schools. This policy is aligned with East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy
policy CP31, which promotes the use of sustainable transport modes. It similarly aligns with
policy objective 12 in the County Council’s Local Transport Plan (2011).

TR2 Cycle routes
Where appropriate, development proposals will provide linkages within, into
and out of the site that provide safe cycle access. Proposals will have particular
regard to ways that they can reinforce cycle links to the town centre and other
traffic-generating development such as schools.  Proposals should react positively
to any opportunity to broaden local cycle networks within Alton.

TR3: Cycle storage and parking
Justification:
The justification for policy TR2 provided evidence that cycling, which is seen as a sustainable
mode of travel, is a popular mode of travel in Alton. If cycle use is to be encouraged among
those moving into new housing or using new non-residential developments, then good storage
and parking facilities need to be available.
Policies applied by other local planning authorities with a similar ambition to encourage
cycling have been considered. Proposed dimensions for cycle storage are broadly based
upon the Cycle Parking Guide published by Cambridge City Council. They are designed to be
suitable for storing two mountain bikes or alternatively two narrower bikes plus a child’s bike.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 65
47

6. Plan policies - Transport
Intent:
Alton wants to encourage development schemes to include sufficient cycle storage (in
the case of residential developments) or cycle parking (in the case of non-residential
development), so that cycling to work, to shops or for leisure is an attractive and practical
option. Residential cycle storage should be secure and convenient to access the public
highway. This could be a dedicated space inside the dwelling or in a garage or a secure
facility within the curtilage. In the case of flats the storage space can be a shared facility,
as long as it is of sufficient size. Non-residential cycle parking facilities should be provided
within or adjacent to the development scheme site.

TR3 Cycle storage and parking
To encourage the greater use of sustainable and non-motorised modes of transport,
all new traffic-generating development must seek to provide adequate parking or
storage for bicycles.
All new dwellings (including conversions and sub-divisions) must demonstrate how
they can achieve secure storage for bicycles that enjoys convenient access to a public
highway. The minimum dimensions of any storage space serving a single private
dwelling will feature a floor area of 1.5 metres by 2.2 metres and must be accessible
via a doorway at least 1.0 metres wide. Shared storage of an appropriate size/
form for flatted developments featuring a secure courtyard or entrance hall will be
considered acceptable.
All new non-residential developments should provide cycle parking (Sheffield
stands or similar).

The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
TRAP4: We will prompt the Local Highway Authority to prepare a timetable for works to
improve conditions for pedestrians, particularly at the following locations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Crown Hill / Church Street / Normandy Street;
Selborne Road / Winchester Road / Whitedown Lane / Butts Road (The Butts bridges);
Old Odiham Road / Greenfields Avenue;
Basingstoke Road;
Paper Mill Lane (Station steps);
Station Road/Forecourt;
Mill Lane / Paper Mill Lane / Ashdell Road
/ Wilsom Road (at Spitalhatch).

Page 66
48

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
TRAP5: We will press for footpaths and
pedestrian alleyways in the town to be
well maintained and clear pedestrian
signposting provided, liaising with
adjoining Parishes in relation to the
surrounding network of public
rights-of-way.
TRAP6: We will work with other
agencies to ensure that there is adequate
pedestrian signage connecting the town
centre, the car parks and the railway
station with places of interest including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clear signposts encourage the use of footpaths

Chawton village (Jane Austen’s House and Chawton House);
Sports Centre;
Community Centre;
Cemetery (Fanny Adams’ grave);
St Lawrence Church (Civil War battle site);
St Swithun’s Way (long distance path);
Hangers Way (long distance path);
The Watercress Line (heritage railway).

TRAP7: We will seek to encourage actions that will reduce the use of cars for school pupil
transport. Initiatives such as Walking Bus, or school minibus transport for those living in the
outer areas of the town, will be actively supported.
TRAP8: We will work with schools and colleges in the town seeking to promote the use of
cycling by pupils and students. Where appropriate we will seek the use of CIL contributions
from developers to help achieve this objective.
TRAP9: We will lobby for improvements to be made to National Cycle Route 224
(Medstead to Farnham) on its route through the town and for all designated cycle routes to
be maintained in a condition that encourages their use.
TRAP10: We will work with other agencies to ensure that there is adequate direction
signing for cyclists passing through the town, particularly along National Cycle Route 224
(Medstead to Farnham).
TRAP11: We will work with adjoining Parishes and other agencies to seek to provide safe
cycle connections between the town and surrounding villages.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 67
49

6. Plan policies - Transport
Objective 2c: To encourage the provision of public transport services, both
within the town and beyond.

TR4: Bus service provision
Justification:
Alton is currently served by four main bus routes, namely: a half-hourly service from Alton
to Winchester; an hourly service from Basingstoke to Liphook; an hourly service from
Alton to Guildford; and five journeys a day from Alton to Petersfield. They also act as
town services, in particular the route which runs through residential areas on the north
side of town. There are also five routes serving Alton College (inbound in the morning and
outbound late afternoon), which are open to wider public use.
No patronage data for bus routes could be
obtained. Observation is that buses are
not greatly used for travel within the town,
except the Winchester service where it runs
through the north side of Alton. Only the
Alton to Guildford service and the Alton
to Winchester service are commercially
viable, other services relying upon County
Council subsidy. Subsidy withdrawal has
led to the discontinuation of the Saturday
Alton to Petersfield service in early 2015.
The most common response about buses in
the Community Questionnaire was that they
provide only a poor town service. Locations
with no convenient bus service include
Holybourne, the Industrial Estate and
the Ridgeway.

There is no bus route providing an
adequate service for Holybourne

The planned growth of Alton could make local bus services more financially viable. Given
that it will involve housing development at locations on the edge of the town, bus travel into
the centre could be an attractive option, if available. It would help relieve road network
congestion and town centre parking demand if more residents are persuaded to switch
travel mode from their cars. This aligns with East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy policy CP29
which encourages use of sustainable modes of transport.

Page 68
50

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport

TR4 Bus service provision
Any new significant development in Alton should seek to ensure that it is located in
reasonable walking distance (400 metres) to a public transport corridor providing
regular bus services to and from the town centre.

The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
TRAP12: We will press Hampshire County Council to improve the bus services to
Holybourne and to the Mill Lane Industrial Estate. We will also give due consideration to
using CIL contributions and other sources of finance to support new bus services which we
may choose to promote.
TRAP13: We will press Hampshire County Council to improve bus accessibility between
Alton and the outlying villages, using commercially provided or HCC supported services.
TRAP14: We will press Hampshire County Council to provide improved late evening bus
services to other towns with significant evening activity (particularly Guildford, Basingstoke
and Winchester).
TRAP15: We will prompt Hampshire County Council, Stagecoach and South West Trains to
improve co-ordination of rail and bus service timetables at Alton Station.
TRAP16: The provision of a direct train service between Alton and Guildford,
as suggested by Surrey County Council, will be supported. We will press Network Rail to
redouble the track between Alton and Farnham in order to permit better timetabling and
additional services.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 69
51

6. Plan policies - Transport
Objective 2d: To achieve appropriate levels of parking,
both on-street and off-street.

TR5: Parking provision and standards
Justification:
There are nine public off street car parks in Alton town centre, providing a total of 703 spaces.
The three largest (each exceeding 100 spaces) are Lady Place, Turk Street and The Bank.
In the Community Questionnaire most respondents considered provision to be adequate,
though very short stay parking was felt to be
insufficient. In some older residential parts
of the town there is no off-street parking
available and kerbside parking occurs, which
can impede traffic flow. Similar problems
occur in the vicinity of the rail station and
the sixth-form college. Bad parking was
considered the second biggest highway safety
concern by Alton residents.
Responsibility for setting parking standards
for development was transferred from the
County Council to the District Council.
Hampshire County Council withdrew its
residential parking standards in 2011 and its
non-residential parking standards in 2014.
However, EHDC has adopted standards
which are based on those previously used
by the County. When applied by the County
Council these were maximum standards
to try to reduce car ownership, in line with
(then) national policy; however, this is out of
step with current government guidance.

Indiscriminate parking badly affects road safety . . .

. . . and can cause problems for pedestrians,
especially those with pushchairs or walking frames.

Evidence from recent Alton developments where the former standards were applied is
that they have led to excessive parking on street and often on verges or around junctions.
This has created a poor visual environment and difficulties for drivers. The East Hampshire:
Joint Core Strategy policy CP29 notably seeks sufficient parking to secure a high-quality
environment and the Alton Town Design Statement, at guideline 5.12, seeks adequate parking
both off-street and kerbside.

Page 70
52

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
Current levels of car ownership in Alton are over 1.2 per household and in East Hampshire
are 1.4 per household. Parking standards for the allocated sites for housing growth at Alton
should take account of factors set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, which are
repeated in the Hampshire Local Transport Plan (2011). A mix of housing types is sought
on these sites, which implies typical levels of car ownership. Location of the sites around
the edge of town implies car ownership could be above average. Similarly, the rather poor
availability of town bus services may increase car ownership and parking space needs.
Policies elsewhere in this Plan seek to encourage the use of travel modes other than the car,
namely walking, cycling and buses.
Intent:
Policy TR5 therefore uses the former Hampshire County Council standards for residential
off-street parking for new residential development, but it states them as a minimum level
of provision. It does not expect them to be significantly exceeded and overprovision is
discouraged. It relates the number of off-street parking spaces to the size of the dwelling.
Where communal unallocated off-street parking space is provided the number of parking
spaces can be slightly reduced. Where off-street parking is within a garage, this should be
of a sufficient size to accommodate modern car designs and provide cycle storage, in line
with County Council guidance. The policy expects new housing development schemes to
identify roadways where on-street parking would be appropriate and those where it should
be discouraged. It also expects there to be sufficient unallocated parking provision for visitors
within new housing development schemes and for this provision to be marked as such.

Adequate parking should be provided for residents and visitors alike.

This policy expects non-residential developments at Alton to provide some off-street
parking for use by employees and clients at that development. As a general guide applicants
should utilise the non-residential standards until recently applied by Hampshire
County Council.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 71
53

6. Plan policies - Transport

TR5 Parking provision and standards
Designated off-street parking
New residential development within Alton will provide an adequate level of off street
parking for residents. The following minimum standards will apply:
1 bedroom dwellings:

1 parking space

2 and 3 bedroom dwellings:

2 parking spaces

4 bedroom (or more) dwellings: 3 parking spaces
Where communal, unallocated off-street parking is provided for eight or more dwellings, the minimum standard for 2 bedroom dwellings and above may be reduced by
one space per four dwellings.
Garages as off-street parking
Where garages are to be counted as an off street parking space the following
minimum internal dimensions should apply:
Single garage: 3.0 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep
Double garage: 5.7 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep
Visitor parking
New residential development within Alton will provide adequate designated
additional parking for visitors, at a minimum of one space per two dwellings. This
can either be off-street or on-street, subject to the wider guidance set out within this
policy. Visitor parking should be marked as such.
Additional on-street parking
Additional on-street parking provision will be welcomed where appropriate, but
should not be used as a substitute for off-street parking provision. Non-designated
on-street parking should be restricted along through-routes within new residential
developments.
Non-residential parking
Parking for all non-residential uses should be negotiated on a case by case basis
and should propose an adequate amount of off-street parking for staff and visitors
to ensure there is no impact by way of parked cars on the wider highway network.
When determining the amount of parking required by the development the following
factors should be considered:
• Projected staff numbers:
• Projected visitor numbers, as well as the likely time and duration of the visit to
		 establish the requirement at peak times; and
• The accessibility of the development by modes other than private car.

Page 72
54

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Transport
The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
TRAP17: We will work with East Hampshire District Council to identify future demand for
off-street car parking in the town centre, with the aim of ensuring that additional spaces are
provided ahead of demand.
TRAP18: We will press East Hampshire District Council to freeze or reduce the levels of
charging in their off-street car parks.
TRAP19: We will press East Hampshire District Council to provide very short stay
(maximum 1 hour) parking spaces close to the retail area, with a tariff which starts
(preferably at zero cost) for a time period of 15 or 20 minutes. We will also explore with
Hampshire County Council the possibility of introducing very short stay on-street parking
in the town centre.
TRAP20: We will work with Hampshire County Council as they develop on street parking
control measures for critical parts of the town. Particular emphasis will be given to the area
around Alton College, and to streets on the periphery of the town centre and in the vicinity
of the railway station that are affected by all day commuter parking.
TRAP21: We will seek to identify areas where coaches may be parked during daytime. This
is necessary if tourism is to be encouraged.
TRAP22: We will seek to work with South West Trains to ensure that adequate levels of
parking are provided at Alton Railway Station. There should be sufficient spaces to cater
for both commuters and Watercress Line visitors.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 73
55

6. Plan policies - Transport
COMMUNITY, HEALTH AND RECREATION POLICIES
The policies in this section seek to improve the quality of life for people living in and around
Alton. They promote opportunities for social interaction and wellbeing, as well as for
recreation, exercise and outdoor enjoyment. They also support the provision of modern
health services that are easily accessible to residents.

Objective 3a: To support the development of a new/refurbished Community
Centre and a new Sports and Leisure Centre in the town.

CH1 Community Centre
Justification:
The Alton 2020 document identified the desire of residents to replace both the Community
Centre and the Sports Centre with modern, purpose-built facilities.
The current Alton Community Centre is operated by the Alton Community Association as
a registered charity with a management committee of volunteer trustees. It offers a base
for a wide range of activities including a play group, youth club, live music, a leisure learning
programme, the University of the Third Age, Shopmobility hire, a community club for older
people, room hire for many clubs and societies, a cafe and a licensed bar.
The building is well located next to the
Bank car park in the town centre. It is an
interesting historic building, which spans the
River Wey and dates from the nineteenth
century. It has had many uses, from tannery
to corset factory. The building has been
extended over the years to offer ten rooms
for community use. Over 1,000 people
use the Centre every week. Most of those
replying to the Community Questionnaire
used the Centre, many of them on a
frequent basis.

Alton Community Centre
– a former industrial building

However, the Centre is old, in need of refurbishment and does not meet modern standards.
It is not a building which could readily be altered or expanded. Previous plans were
drawn up by the trustees, with support from the District Council, to deliver a replacement
Community Centre, but they stalled due to lack of available funding. In the meantime some
refurbishment works have been carried out at the existing Centre. This is welcome, but it is
not seen by the interested parties as a long-term solution.
Intent:
Policy CH1 therefore supports the provision of a new Community Centre at an appropriate
and accessible site within Alton. Where this is brought forward as a funded part of a wider
development scheme it would be viewed as a positive feature of that scheme.

Page 74
56

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

CH1 Community Centre
The provision of a new easily accessible multi-purpose community centre or
community facilities within Alton will be supported.

CH2 Sports Centre
Justification:
The Alton Sports and Leisure Centre
lies on the south western side of town
in Chawton Park Road. It was originally
developed in the 1970s, by the (then)
Alton Urban District Council, and has been
added to over time. Its facilities include
swimming and diving pools, a sports hall, a
fitness centre, tennis courts, squash courts,
a climbing wall, a synthetic turf pitch, a
play zone, flexible use studios and a cafe.
The Community Questionnaire found this
Centre to be the most used of all the listed
community facilities in Alton, with many
respondents saying they were regular
users. Asked what open space or leisure
facilities they wanted to see in future, a
sports centre was the category most
often selected.

Alton Sports Centre from the air

It is widely recognised that the existing Sports and Leisure Centre is now nearing the end of
its design life and is becoming hard to maintain. The current management contract expires
in 2017. EHDC has identified a need to replace or refurbish this centre in its
Leisure Built Facilities Strategy and Action Plan (2012), and as a ‘critical’ project in its
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2013). The District Council has commissioned consultants to
look at feasibility and delivery options. Stage One of that work indicates that land adjacent
to the existing Centre provides an option and one which need not entail any interim loss of
service. That work also notes the scope to release land at the existing Centre as enabling
development. The land on which the existing Centre stands is owned by the District Council
with some adjacent land being leased from the Town Council. A further stage of this
feasibility work is due to be completed in 2015.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 75
57

6. Plan policies - Community
Intent:
Policy CH2 therefore supports appropriate schemes that come forward to replace or
refurbish the Sports and Leisure Centre at Alton. Replacement could happen on land
adjacent to the existing centre, though a proposal for another appropriate site in the town
would equally be supported. This policy allows for suitable enabling development on
the existing Centre site, if a replacement site is forthcoming. Facilities at a refurbished
or replacement site would be expected to maintain and preferably enhance the facilities
currently provided at the existing Centre.

CH2 Sports Centre
Proposals for a replacement sports centre facility providing an enhanced level of
recreational provision to Alton in terms of quality and quantity on or adjacent to the
current site will be supported.
Appropriate associated enabling development as part of the same scheme required
to cross-subsidise the delivery of the new facility will be supported.
A comprehensive redevelopment of the existing sports centre site and the land
adjacent will be supported provided that any new facility is in place prior to the old
facility being redeveloped.

Action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
CHAP1: In the absence of any proposal for a new Community Centre, we will continue
to lobby East Hampshire District Council in order to secure funding to bring the existing
Community Centre up to an appropriate standard to meet modern needs and the demands
of an increasing population. We will continue to press for land and funding to build a new
purpose built Community Centre to open by 2020.
CHAP2: We will work with East Hampshire District Council to achieve a new Sports Centre,
sufficient for the needs of the population within its catchment area, being completed
by 2018.

Page 76
58

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community
Objective 3b: To support the provision of adequate health services for a growing
population.

CH3: Health facilities and
CH4: Community Hospital
Justification:
The provision of NHS services is the
responsibility of the North Hampshire Clinical
Commissioning Group. Alton is served by two
GP practices, the Wilsom Practice located at
the Health Centre at the eastern edge of the
town centre, where it has a minor injuries unit
and there is an independently run pharmacy.
This practice has 10 doctors, 6 nurses and 3
nursing assistants. The other GP practice is
the Chawton Park Surgery, which lies on the
south western side of town adjacent to the
Chawton Park Surgery
Community Hospital. It set up in purpose
built premises in 2005 to meet the needs of a growing population. This practice has 10 doctors,
4 nurses and 3 nursing assistants. It has a minor injuries unit and, again, there is an independent
co-located pharmacy. These practices serve a population that is larger than Alton’s and which
includes patients from outlying areas. Both have active Patient Participation Groups which
support the development of the Neighbourhood Development Plan. Other health care provision
in Alton includes two high street pharmacies and certain commercially operated services.
Patients who require hospital treatment
will generally go either to Basingstoke or
Winchester, both of which facilities belong
to Hampshire Hospitals Foundation NHS
Trust. Alton Community Hospital is operated
by Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust
(SHFT). It runs a number of services from
the facility and lets space to others, most
significantly Hampshire Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust for outpatient, physiotherapy
and x-ray clinics and Age Concern for The
Alton Community Hospital
Limes Day Centre. SHFT provides a 24-bed inpatient facility for palliative care and to support the rehabilitation/further recovery needs largely of
older patients following a spell in secondary care (one of the district general hospitals). The medical
cover for the in-patient facility is provided by local GPs. Current health care policy seeks to treat
more non-emergency and non-specialist cases close to where people live.
One of the GP practices reports that it is currently running at capacity and the other reports that
it is running close to capacity. A growing number of patient visits would require an increase in GP,
nurse and ancillary staff. One of the practices considers it has the building space to accommodate
a 15% increase in patient numbers. Pressure on health services is likely to rise for at least two
reasons. One is the significant planned growth in the town’s population. The other is an ageing
population. County Council projections are that in East Hampshire the 85+ age group will increase
from just over 3% of the population in 2016 to well over 4% by 2026.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 77
59

6. Plan policies - Community
The Community Questionnaire found that Alton heath care facilities meet most residents’ needs,
although a significant number noted difficulty obtaining a timely GP appointment. Views were,
however, more mixed about the ease of access to hospital facilities, with many respondents
citing transport difficulties. Travel to Winchester or Basingstoke hospitals currently requires a
change of bus and is particularly challenging in the evening and at weekends. There is no direct rail
connection from Alton to either Basingstoke or Winchester.
Intent:
Health care provision is likely to need some expansion during the Plan period, given the town’s
growth and an ageing population. Managing this would likely require some additional premises
space, as well as additional practice staff. The East Hampshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2013),
which provides a summary list of the area’s investment needs, includes the Alton Health Centre.
Policy CH3 therefore supports appropriate extra provision of health care premises at Alton. This
could be through expansion at existing site(s) or at a new health centre.

CH3 Health facilities
Proposals to expand current health care facilities in Alton to meet the needs of a
growing local population will be supported, with the extension of the two surgeries
in the town identified as a priority.

The Alton Community Hospital performs a valuable role, given that major hospitals are some
distance away. Policy CH4 therefore seeks to safeguard that site from change of use and supports
appropriate extra provision of health care services at the site. There are no current proposals to
change its use. Both CH3 and CH4 align with Joint Core Strategy policy CP8.

CH4 Community Hospital
The Alton Community Hospital site will be safeguarded for health uses for the duration
of the plan period.
Additionally, any proposal to extend the current facility to offer an enhanced level and
range of health care service to the town will be actively encouraged.

Action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
CHAP3: We will lobby North Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to maximise use of a
range of specialist facilities and appointment capacity at Alton Community Hospital. We will
engage with local providers to ensure that capacity is increased commensurate with
population growth, and that standards and levels of provision of all health services are
maintained or improved.
CHAP4: We will assist in establishing an Alton group charged with monitoring the provision
of all health and care-related services.

Page 78
60

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community
Objective 3c: To support the retention of existing public open spaces and
the provision of new ones, similarly capable of offering sport/recreation
opportunities in line with population growth.

CH5: Local Green Space and open space
Justification:
Alton is fortunate in having a number of public open spaces within or adjacent to its built
area. These add greatly to the quality of the local environment and many of them are much
used for recreation or leisure purposes. Indeed, the consultation undertaken for the
Alton 2020 document highlighted, in particular, local residents’ wish to protect and enhance
existing parks, allotments and green spaces.

The Public Gardens in the town centre

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 79
61

6. Plan policies - Community
A 2011 report, Land and Other Properties Managed by the Council, lists and describes all
of those which are managed by Alton Town Council, together with their facilities. These
include the Public Gardens, The Butts, Chawton Park Road, Kings Pond, Jubilee Playing
Fields, Windmill Hill, Anstey Park, Holybourne Play Area, four sites for allotments (at
Borovere, Hawthorns, Spitalfields and Wooteys, and Whitedown), The Dell, Greenfields
Amenity Land and Flood Meadows. In addition, St Lawrence churchyard is open space
maintained by the Town Council. The total of public open space in Alton is currently 67
hectares of land, which compares with a minimum of 60 hectares expected by local open
space policy. It is likely that this total will increase as the town grows, as a result of public
open space provided on larger housing development sites, including higher-elevation land
at certain sites. It would need to do so to meet the open space expectations set out by the
District Council in its Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study (2008). It is equally important,
therefore, that existing public open spaces are retained.

Alton’s Open Spaces


Allotments


© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.
Jubilee Playing Field owned by Alton Town
Council outside NP Designated Area

Open Space owned by Alton Town

Council
inside NP Designated Area

62



Page




Holybourne Play Area not owned by
Alton Town Council

80

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community
The 2014 Community Questionnaire confirmed the high value that residents place upon
these sites. It asked how much residents used a number of the main facilities. Anstey Park,
the Public Gardens, the Flood Meadows and Jubilee Playing Fields were all found to be used
by at least half of respondents and by many of them on a regular basis. Comments from
survey respondents also identified significant use of sites including Kings Pond, The Butts
Green, Greenfields and Windmill Hill. When asked about the need for further green space,
many residents cited allotments as being important (see also policy CH7 below). More
detailed information about the significant use of sites is provided in the table below.
Intent:
Policy CH5 designates and therefore protects valued areas of Local Green Space from
development, except in very special circumstances. This policy is aligned with East Hampshire:
Joint Core Strategy policy CP18. The areas of Local Green Space to be protected meet the
specific tests which are set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 77).
They are close to where people live, special to local people and only constitute local areas of
land. Their location is shown on the map below. Jubilee Fields is owned and maintained by
Alton Town Council, but a large part is in Chawton Parish and is outside the Neighbourhood
Development Plan area, so it could not be designated in this Plan. Holybourne Play Area is
the only publicly accessible recreational area near the centre of the village from which to
enjoy nature and admire the outstanding views northwards to Holybourne Down, the nearest
alternative play area being a mile away. It holds particular significance for its local community,
including children from several local schools, and the many visitors with families and groups of
all ages taking advantage of adjacent free parking.
Why the identified Local Green Spaces are special:
Anstey Park
(15.5 hectares)

Recreational use by sports and social clubs. It has cricket and
rugby pitches, tennis courts, a playground and an area for general
recreational use. It is crossed by St Swithun’s Way long distance path.

Public Gardens
(1.8 hectares)

Recreational use in the town centre, with some trees and laid out
flowerbeds and containing a play area, bandstand and bowling green.
Also of historical interest (Roman remains and later an asylum).

Flood Meadows
(6.0 hectares)

Natural water meadows and land of considerable ecological value,
with some historical value (site of death of Fanny Adams). It offers
riverside walks, areas frequented by waterfowl on former watercress
beds, open space for informal recreation and vistas over the town.

Holybourne Play Area
(0.7 hectares)

Public access land providing outstanding countryside views and
recreational play area. There is also some historical interest from
Roman remains.

King’s Pond
(4.0 hectares)

A natural area and an ecological resource, with varied flora and
fauna. It has a historic pond and there is a Kings Pond Trail.

The Butts Green
(1.4 hectares)

Informal recreational use by the public. This is the site of the town’s
historic archery ground and of the annual Charter Fair.

Greenfields
(16.0 hectares)

Public access land providing a view point and part is also let for cattle
grazing. There is a play area, kick-about area and BMX track.

Windmill Hill
(10.0 hectares)

Open land with a view point, which is crossed by a public footpath.
Its ecology has been subject to an initial light-touch survey.

St Lawrence Churchyard
(closed to burials)
(0.8 hectares)

A popular recreational spot for relaxation, which lies at the heart of
the Alton (central) Conservation Area. It is the setting for a Grade I
listed church and is the site of a Civil War battle.

Allotments (four sites)
(6.4 hectares)

Recreational gardening use at Borovere, Hawthorns, Spitalfields &
Wooteys and Whitedown.

Alton
Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 81
63

6. Plan policies - Community

Designated Local Green Spaces

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Open Space

Allotment land

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

10. Borovere;
11. Hawthorns;
12. Spitalfields/Wooteys;
13. Whitedown.

Anstey Park;
Alton Public Gardens;
Alton Flood Meadows (to the rear of Lenten Street);
Holybourne Play Area;
King’s Pond;
The Butts Green;
Greenfields;
Windmill Hill;
St Lawrence Churchyard.

It should be noted that this policy does not deal with new public open spaces on allocated
development sites.

Page 82
64

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

1. Anstey Park

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 83
65

6. Plan policies - Community

2. Alton Public Gardens
3. Alton Flood Meadows
9. St Lawrence Churchyard

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 84
66

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

4. Holybourne Play Area

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 85
67

6. Plan policies - Community

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

5. King’s Pond

Page 86
68

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

6. The Butts Green
10. Borovere Allotments
13. Whitedown Allotments

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 87
69

6. Plan policies - Community

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

7. Greenfields
11. Hawthorns Allotments

Page 88
70

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

8. Windmill Hill

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 89
71

6. Plan policies - Community

12. Spitalfields/ Wooteys Allotments

© Crown copyright and database right.
All rights reserved (100051853) 2015.

Page 90
72

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community

CH5 Local green space and open space
The areas below, identified on the maps, are designated as Local Green Space, where
development will not be permitted other than in very special circumstances:
• Anstey Park;
• Alton Public Gardens;
• Alton Flood Meadows (to the rear of Lenten Street);
• Holybourne Play Area;
• King’s Pond;
• The Butts Green;
• Greenfields;
• Windmill Hill;
• St Lawrence Churchyard;
• Allotment land (four sites at Borovere, Hawthorns, Spitalfields/Wooteys
		and Whitedown).

Children’s play areas
There are a number of children’s play areas across the town. The East Hampshire Open
Space, Sport and Recreation Study (2008) identified a modest shortfall in children’s outdoor
play space in Alton. Open space standards set out in that document are for there to be
0.25 hectares of children’s or young people’s space per 1,000 residents. It expects the
provision for toddler and junior age groups to be available within 480 metres of all new
dwellings. This can form part of wider public open space provision (at a minimum of 3.45
hectares per 1,000 population) which the East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy expects. The
Green Infrastructure Study for East Hampshire (2011) similarly recommended that additional
children’s play areas be created, especially in the northern, western and central parts of the
town. In the Community Questionnaire over 60% of residents felt there should be more
provision of children’s play areas and many commented that this should be within or near to
new housing developments. The issue, then, is accessibility to children’s play areas.
This Neighbourhood Development Plan supports policy CP18 in the East Hampshire: Joint
Core Strategy, which set out standards for the provision of open space, sport and recreation
and built facilities, at new residential developments. It does so in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework. CP18 supports the provision of well-designed,
high-quality play spaces for children and young people, and it does so in a way which can be
applied to differing circumstances at different development sites.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 91
73

6. Plan policies - Community
This should help ensure that equipped play areas are available on or near to new housing
developments. In some cases this may mean upgrading and/or increasing capacity of
existing provision through developer contributions. In other cases it may mean new play
areas being provided on site as part of a development scheme. Developer contributions, for
an initial period of time, can help to ensure that play areas are properly maintained.

CH6: Playing fields
Justification:
Anstey Park is the largest area of playing fields in Alton. It has 1 cricket pitch, 4 rugby
pitches, a rugby training area, 2 tennis and netball courts, and a football ground enclosure.
Various sports and other clubs have leased sites for their premises within the park. Jubilee
Playing Fields provides a further 2 cricket pitches and 5 football pitches.

Anstey Park is laid out with pitches for sport

Page 92
74

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Community
The East Hampshire Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study (2008) identified a notable
shortfall in sports and recreation grounds at Alton, in particular for junior football pitches.
The need for junior football pitches then appears as a ‘priority’ which is listed in the
East Hampshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2013).
Intent:
Policy CH6 therefore supports the provision of new playing fields, particularly where they
would be suitable for junior football. Where a development proposal includes new playing
fields, this will be considered as a positive feature of that scheme.

CH6 Playing fields
Proposals to provide additional playing field space, especially junior football pitches,
and associated facilities will be supported.

CH7: Allotments
Justification:
There are four existing allotment sites in Alton, which have 254 plots between them.
They are at: Borovere (26 plots); Hawthorns (45 plots); Spitalfields and Wooteys (115 plots,
including 3 special-needs plots and raised beds); and Whitedown (68 plots). There is a
considerable and rising demand for plots as and when they become available. In December
2014 there was a waiting list of 63 for allotments in Alton. To mitigate this problem some
plots have been subdivided. Additional growing spaces at the railway station and St
Lawrence vicarage are provided under the Alton Local Food Initiative scheme.
According to the District Council’s Open Space, Sport & Recreation Study (2008) there is some
under-provision in Alton and the East Hampshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan seeks further
allotments. Town growth will inevitably add to any existing demand. In the Community
Questionnaire over half of residents wanted to see more allotments provided and a
significant number of responses commented that new provision should be easily accessible
from new housing developments. This matches the East Hampshire open space standards,
which seek to have allotments accessible within 480 metres.
Intent:
Policy CH7 therefore supports the provision of new allotments associated with housing
development schemes. Where a development proposal includes new allotments, this will be
considered as a positive feature of that scheme.

CH7 Allotments
Proposals to provide additional allotment land in the town will be supported.

The action point for Alton Town Council which relates to this objective is:
CHAP5: We will seek to offer a co-ordinating role to local organisations in order to improve
and promote the usage and financial health of the town’s range of amenities.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 93
75

6. Plan policies - Education
EDUCATION POLICY
Objective 4a: To support the provision of sufficient nursery, school and college
places in Alton to meet the growing demand, in accessible locations.

ED1 Schools expansion
Justification:
Alton is a favoured centre for education serving a wide catchment. It has 9 preschools
or nurseries, 1 children’s centre, 7 primary schools, 2 secondary schools and a sixth-form
college. The school roll at the town’s primary schools was 1,458 and at its secondary
schools was 1,639 for the 2013/14 academic year. There are 2 further independent
establishments catering for the full school age range.

Page 94
76

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Education
Guidance from the Audit Commission considers
a school to be full if it has less than 5% surplus
capacity, so as to allow for parental choice.
The Hampshire School Places Plan 2013-18
forecasts that surplus capacity at Alton primary
schools is reducing from 7% in 2013 and will
disappear altogether by 2018, when there
will be 1% undercapacity. Surplus capacity
for Alton secondary schools is forecast to
fall from 11% in 2013 to 9% in 2018. These
figures were based on an assumption of
Alton growing by 500 dwellings. Over the
Neighbourhood Development Plan period that
level of development is expected to be very
considerably exceeded. It is also noted that
population projections for East Hampshire
District show a growing school-age cohort for
the period to 2019. Discussions with schools in
Alton supported this general picture and found
concerns about future capacity.
The Alton Community Questionnaire also
identified similar widespread concern among
residents, especially with regard to infant and
primary schools.
The East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy states
that additional school places are likely to be
required if the planned growth at Alton is to be
accommodated. The County Council generally
uses a threshold of 1,400 extra ‘eligible’
dwellings in an area, if provision of a new
primary school is to be considered an option
(a threshold which excludes one bedroom
dwellings). Alton is expecting growth of more
than 1,700 dwellings (of all types) during the
Plan period, taking those already with planning
permission and those with allocated sites.
Other housing has been built since the last
school extension was completed.
Mapping the location of Alton schools shows an uneven geographic distribution, with
limited provision at the south-west end of the town. This is of particular note, given that
allocated housing sites propose further development around the south-western periphery.
The Community Questionnaire and the Youth Questionnaire found a strong desire for
schools to be walkable from home, which sits well with the plan objectives to encourage
walking and cycling, and to manage road traffic.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 95
77

6. Plan policies - Education

Location of Alton’s Local Authority Schools and Alton College

Intent:
The Hampshire School Places Plan 2013-18 states that school provision in Alton is under
review and discussion will take place with its schools about the best way to resolve the
shortfall. The County Council’s Strategic Infrastructure Statement (2013) lists the expansion
of facilities at Wootey Infant and Junior Schools. These schools would be well placed to
provide for children from households at allocated development sites on the north side of
the town. We are at a critical time period for the provision of additional places and the
County Council has opened discussions (late 2014) with The Butts Primary School about
potential expansion at that site. It would be well placed to provide for some children from
households in the south west of the town. Making best use of these school sites is desirable
in order to reduce the need for cross-town journeys. They should maximise the potential
for journeys to/from school being made on foot or bicycle. Policy ED1 therefore supports
appropriate development proposals if they come forward at these two sites. It aligns with
Joint Core Strategy policy CP14, whilst being more specific about the situation in Alton.

Page 96
78

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Education

ED1 Schools expansion
The proposed expansions of the Wootey Infant and Junior Schools and the Butts
Primary School in Alton are supported provided they do not result in the significant
loss of playing fields or open classroom space.

There are no current County Council proposals to fund a new school at Alton, though
future growth could trigger a reassessment. Part 3 of the East Hampshire Local Plan will be
considering longer-term planning requirements for schools across the District, including at
Alton. The Town Council fully intends to engage with that process.
The action point for Alton Town Council which relates to this objective is:
EDAP1: We will engage with East Hampshire District Council when it considers future
school (including a possible new school) requirements under Part 3 of the East Hampshire
Local Plan. We will press for this to include extra nursery and pre-school provision in
the town.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 97
79

6. Plan policies - Economy
ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY AND VIABILITY POLICIES
Policies under this heading seek to maintain and improve the economic viability and
sustainability of Alton as a retail, service and employment centre. This will help ensure the
future wellbeing of the town for residents, employees and visitors alike.

Objective 5a: To protect and enhance the role of Alton town centre as a retail,
tourism and hospitality hub, which is vibrant and adaptable to future needs.

Town centre retail area
This plan recognises the high level of public concern regarding the future health of the High
Street and its survival as a vibrant centre. However, this issue is best dealt with by action
points, as planning policies cannot address many of the key issues.
The town centre serves as a retail and service hub both for the residents of Alton and for
many others living in nearby settlements. Indeed, it is an historic market town and one of
two main shopping centres within the district of East Hampshire. The importance of this
role was recognised by the East Hampshire Town Centres, Retail and Leisure Study (2007) and
is reflected in the Joint Core Strategy through policy CP8. The District Council’s Employment
Land Review (2013) noted that over a quarter of East Hampshire’s retail jobs are located
in Alton. That said, the town’s role is a more localised one than that of retail centres at
Basingstoke, Guildford and Winchester, which attract comparison shopping trips.

Page 98
80

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Economy
Alton town centre has 215 shop premises (classes A1 to A5), covering a reasonable mix of
retail sectors, and with both national chains and independents represented. Some types
of shop e.g. DIY/homeware, could however be considered as under-represented. There is
also the popular weekly street market, which is held each Tuesday. As a hospitality centre,
the town offers a good selection of pubs and a variety of restaurants, cafes and takeaway
outlets. Although not a prime tourist destination, the town attracts a considerable number
of visitors to local sites such as Jane Austen’s house, the Watercress heritage railway line,
the Curtis Museum and the Allen Gallery. It is a Gateway town to the nearby South Downs
National Park and is attracting some stopover visits from passing travellers.
The Community Questionnaire found the key thing, by a large margin, which would lead
residents to shop more frequently in Alton was having a better range of shops. There is a
particular desire to see more small and independent retailers, and certain types of shop
are felt to be in short supply e.g. DIY/homeware, electrical/white goods and quality clothes
shops. Some respondents felt that charity shops were over-represented.
Some 32 of the 215 shop premises in the town centre were lying vacant in April 2014. At
15% the vacancy rate is slightly above the national average and considerably higher than
it was at the time of the 2007 retail study. Whilst charity stores can play a valuable role, it
is notable that 11 were recorded in 2014. In three cases shops which could be considered
discount stores have moved into available premises. In common with a lot of towns, Alton
needs to support the future of its high street. Town growth may help in that regard, though
there are competing forces, such as out-of-town and internet shopping. It is probable that
the town now has slightly more retail units than it can sustain. The Town Centres, Retail and
Leisure Study (2007) noted that pedestrian flows are low to the more peripheral parts of
central Alton.
Given changes in the retailing sector, which cannot be predicted with any certainty, a
relatively flexible planning approach is required so that the town centre can adapt in ways
which keep it viable and sustainable. This should seek to maintain the character of the
town centre, whilst being responsive to future market needs. It may be appropriate for
some secondary or peripheral shopping frontages, which lie beyond the primary or core
area of the town centre, to change use in response to market conditions. This would have
to happen within the framework of reserved policies S2 and S4 (on primary and secondary
shopping frontages respectively) from East Hampshire’s previous Local Plan, which is the
current planning position.
A flexible approach should similarly be positive about permitting vacant larger retail units
to be subdivided or converted into smaller retail units, if it can be shown that that is in line
with market needs. Large premises which lie vacant and deteriorate can be particularly
visible and detract from the appearance of shopping areas.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 99
81

6. Plan policies - Economy
The existing definition of primary and secondary shopping frontages in Alton town centre
is shown on the map below. This is due to be reviewed by Part 3 of the East Hampshire Local
Plan. Alton Town Council wishes to engage with that District Council review to ensure the
best outcome.

Zoning of Retail Premises in Town Centre (EHDC)
© Crown Copyright Reserved.
LC 100024238-2006
East Hampshire District Council

Page 100
82






Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Economy
Action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
ESAP1: We will work with all interested parties to establish a Town Centre Management
function in order to:
• market and promote the town to attract visitors and new business;
• co-ordinate leisure, entertainment and cultural events within the town;
• encourage town centre businesses to work together to enhance the overall retail
offering;
• engage with tourism and hospitality providers in order to create a positive visitor
experience;
• work with all local authorities to provide an attractive, clean, safe environment for
visitors and local residents;
• work with all local authorities to ensure effective visitor infrastructure; accessibility,
parking, signage (orientation & way-finding), tourist information and toilet facilities.

Maintaining an active shopping centre is vital to the wellbeing of the town.

ESAP2: We will work with landlords and the District Council to promote the development
of flexible leases and other incentives to encourage new business start ups.
ESAP3: Owners and landlords of unoccupied high street property will be encouraged to
maintain them in good decorative order and where appropriate to feature some form of
window display.
ESAP4: We will engage with the District Council, when it reviews the defined primary and
secondary shopping area boundaries of Alton under Part 3 of the Local Plan.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 101
83

6. Plan policies - Economy
Objective 5b: To develop and enhance the business economy of Alton and
Holybourne, to ensure that the town is economically sustainable.

Loss of existing employment land
Retaining and enhancing local employment opportunities – especially through good quality
jobs – is seen as a core element of the future sustainability of Alton. Planning can play an
important role in facilitating that. As well as allocating new employment land it can assist
the retention and reuse of existing employment land.
Alton has two fair-sized, light-industrial estates, one at Mill Lane and another at Wilsom
Road. Both of these are considered to be well located and fit for purpose. However, there
are some vacant employment sites in the town and the local brewery (which occupies a
roughly 5 hectare site in a fairly central location) has closed. Action Point ESAP9 covers the
Brewery Site.
A district-wide report, the East Hampshire Employment Land Review (2013), concluded that
most of the area’s businesses are long established, few premises become vacant, much
of the premises stock is relatively old and (more positively) there are a good number of
knowledge-based industries. The Business Survey for this Neighbourhood Development
Plan identified a lack of suitable premises to rent, as well as a wish to see better transport
links and broadband connectivity.
This Neighbourhood Development Plan supports the planning policy framework which
is set at local and national levels. East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy policy CP4 covers
the loss of existing employment land, as does paragraph 51 of the National Planning Policy
Framework. Joint Core Strategy policy CP2 encourages development to make best use of
previously developed (or brownfield) land and buildings within built up areas, as does
paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Whilst there is a wish to see
available employment sites in Alton reused for that purpose, it is recognised there can be
circumstances where alternative use (including the mixed use of sites) will be more realistic.
Indeed, aside from the sites which are allocated at policy HO3, there is an expectation
that the town’s future development needs might be met on larger brownfield sites which
become available.

Page 102
84

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

6. Plan policies - Economy
ES1: Reuse of commercial brownfield land
Justification:
It is important for the economic viability of the town centre that a balance is maintained
among appropriate uses and this will include commercial office space. Buildings which
could make good office space are sometimes lost to other (perhaps higher-value) uses.
Some of Alton’s existing commercial office space can be considered poorly suited to modern
business requirements. This may be due to it being in older buildings, perhaps over town
centre shops and occupying relatively inflexible space. The Business Survey undertaken
for this Neighbourhood Development Plan identified a wish to see more suitable rental
premises. There are some former employment sites which have been lying vacant in or
adjacent to the town centre, and which might be made suitable for reuse as commercial
office space. Examples include the old post office, the magistrates’ courts and (more
recently) the brewery. Office development which is close to the town centre is more likely
to be sustainable, providing occupants with easy access to a range of services and to public
transport links. Providing new employment opportunities close to the town centre would
help to sustain retail and service businesses located there. This would be consistent with
policy CP4 in the East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy.
Intent:
Policy ES1 therefore supports appropriate development proposals to reuse vacant or
available buildings within the town as commercial office space. Such proposals would need
to take proper account of other policies within this Neighbourhood Development Plan,
including TR3 and TR5. They would also need to take proper account of policies in the
East Hampshire: Joint Core Strategy, including CP29 which promotes good design in the
built environment.

ES1 Reuse of commercial brownfield land
The reuse of previously developed employment land with alternative employment
uses will be supported.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 103
85

6. Plan policies - Economy
Action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:
ESAP 5: We will work with the Economic Development Team at the District Council to
promote the town as an attractive location for business:
• identifying and targeting appropriate business sectors.
• attracting high technology businesses to the Town.
• establishing an Enterprise Centre to support business start-ups, providing business
support services and flexible incubation space.
ESAP6: We will work to ensure that the business community is able to benefit from stateof-the art communication systems such as high-speed broadband.
ESAP7: We will work with ACCI to maintain strong relationships between business and the
local education establishments, to create a mutually beneficial environment where local
career opportunities can be enhanced.
ESAP8: We will work with East Hampshire District Council and neighbouring Parishes to
ensure that a minimum of seven hectares of land is available for economic development, in
the form of business parks for both industrial and commercial use.

Page 104
86

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

7. Going forward
Following its submission to EHDC, this Neighbourhood Development Plan was subject
to some checks, a further District Council consultation, an independent examination and
a referendum among local residents before it could be adopted as part of the statutory
Development Plan.
Although adoption is a milestone, it is not the end of the process. Alton Town Council
intends to engage with various organisations and support initiatives that will help to deliver
the policies in this Plan. Equally, it intends to work with those who can implement other
actions which technically fall outside of this Plan.

The Draft Local Plan
Further work on the East Hampshire Local Plan, led by the District Council, will have
implications for Alton. Therefore, Alton Town Council (and, whilst it continues to exist, its
Alton Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group) will continue liaising with the District Council
to influence that work.
The District Council is currently considering the scope of the Local Plan review in the
context of the recent Planning for the Future White Paper consultation however it
continues to anticipate its adoption in 2023.

Strategic Transport Study
There is expected to be ongoing dialogue with Hampshire County Council which, as the
area’s Local Highways Authority, commissioned a study to consider future road network
needs of Alton, given the growth of the town. Alton Town Council will want to help inform
decisions that are taken as a result of that study.

Monitoring
Alton Town Council intends to monitor progress with this Neighbourhood Development
Plan on an annual basis. The production of the Plan has involved a very significant amount
of time and effort by many local people, much of it on a voluntary basis. In addition to any
statutory monitoring that will be undertaken by the District Council, the Town Council
therefore wishes to track whether the Plan has a positive impact on planning decisions and
whether its objectives are being realised.

Review
Alton Town Council intends to carry out a more substantial review of the vision, objectives
and spatial strategy of the Modified Made Plan at an appropriate time in the future to take
account of the reasoning and evidence base of the emerging Draft Local Plan. Not enough
is known at present to inform and shape this review, hence a two-phased approach to
modifying the made Neighbourhood Plan.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 105
87

Acknowledgements
Membership of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group was as follows:
Chairman and Lead on Housing:
		
Mike Heelis MBE
Deputy Chairmen and Leads on Community:
		
Councillor Peter Hicks (December 2013 to February 2014)
		
Councillor Graham Hill (March 2014 onwards)
Housing:
		
Brian Alexander (December 2013 to January 2014)
		
Mike Biddiss (February 2014 onwards)
		
District Councillor Nicky Branch (also Environment and Economic Sustainability)
Lead on Transport:
		
David Allan MBE
Leads on Economic Sustainability and Viability:
		
Sanya Ward (December 2013 to September 2014)
		
Andy Goodall (October 2014 onwards)
Lead on Health & Finance:
		
Councillor David Willoughby
Lead on Education and Communications:
		
Councillor Pam Jones
Assisting the Steering Group were:
Data analysis and presentation:
		
Charles Dixon
Minute takers:
		
Steve Parkinson, Town Clerk
		
Mark Rumsby
		
Sarah Bettin
		
Linda Munday
The Town Clerk provided regular advice and assistance to the Steering Group. The group
was also pleased to receive a considerable level of support from officers in East Hampshire
District Council’s planning department, in particular Simon Jenkins and Robert Jackson.
It also acknowledges the support received from its own consultants, who were Brian
Wilson, Sue Jobbins and Alex Munro. The National Planning Practice Guidance provided an
informative source of online advice.
Alton Town Council contributed its own financial resources towards funding this work, but
it would not have been possible without grants received from both East Hampshire District
Council and Locality (who had Department for Communities and Local Government funding).
A number of Town Hall support staff and volunteers helped the group, particularly with the
staging of community engagement events.

Page 106
88

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Acknowledgements
We are grateful to the following for allowing us to use their images in this document:
		
David Allan
		
Alton Camera Club (David Quick)
		
John Grace
		
Dr John Jones
		
Pam Jones
		
Dr John Laycock
		
David Willoughby
The assistance of Peter Hicks and East Hampshire District Council in the preparation of
mapping is appreciated, and the District Council’s permission to use copyrighted material is
acknowledged.
The 2021 modifications have been prepared by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group,
comprising:
		
Councillor Graham Titterington (Town Mayor)
		
Councillor Pam Jones
		
Mike Heelis MBE
		
David Allan MBE
		
Nicholas Branch
		
Leah Coney (Town Clerk)
Valuable input has been provided by Leani Haim of Consultants O’Neill Homer and Vicki
Potts and Adam Harvey of East Hampshire District Council Planning Policy team.
The assistance of Wendy Simson in producing the minutes is gratefully acknowledged.
The input of graphic designer Paul Fretwell of VAPA Creative has been of great value in the
production of this document.
Finally, we need to acknowledge the very significant input from the people of Alton, who
attended the events, completed the questionnaire and offered their views.

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 107
89

Page 108
90

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Page 109
91

Page 110

Alton Town Council, Town Hall, Market Square, Alton, Hampshire, GU34 1HD

Alton Neighbourhood Development
Plan Review 2011-2028

A report to East Hampshire District Council on the
Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan Review

Andrew Ashcroft
Independent Examiner
BA (Hons) MA, DMS, MRTPI
Director – Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited

Page 111

Executive Summary
1

I was appointed by East Hampshire District Council in July 2021 to carry out the
independent examination of the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan Review.

2

The examination was undertaken by written representations. I visited the
neighbourhood area on 22 July 2021.

3

The Plan proposes a series of modifications to the policies in the ‘made’ Plan. It
continues to seek to bring forward positive and sustainable development in the
neighbourhood area. There is a very clear focus on safeguarding its distinctive
character.

4

The Plan has been underpinned by community support and engagement. The
community has been engaged in its preparation in a proportionate way in its review.

5

Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this report I have
concluded that the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan Review meets all the
necessary legal requirements and should be made by East Hampshire District
Council.

Andrew Ashcroft
Independent Examiner
31 August 2021

Page 112

1
1

Introduction

1.1

This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the Alton
Neighbourhood Development Plan Review 2011 to 2028 (the ‘Plan’).

1.2

The Plan has been submitted to East Hampshire District Council (EHDC) by Alton
Town Council (ATC) in its capacity as the qualifying body responsible for preparing the
neighbourhood plan.

1.3

Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the Localism Act
2011. They aim to allow local communities to take responsibility for guiding
development in their area. This approach was subsequently embedded in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2012. The NPPF continues to be the principal
element of national planning policy. It was updated in both 2018, 2019 and 2021.

1.4

The role of an independent examiner is clearly defined in the legislation. I have been
appointed to examine whether or not the submitted Plan meets the basic conditions
and Convention Rights and other statutory requirements. It is not within my remit to
examine or to propose an alternative Plan, or a potentially more sustainable Plan
except where this arises as a result of my recommended modifications to ensure that
the plan meets the basic conditions and the other relevant requirements.

1.5

A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. Any plan can include whatever
range of policies it sees as appropriate to its designated neighbourhood area. The
submitted plan has been designed to be distinctive in general terms, and to be
complementary to the development plan in particular. It has been prepared in order to
update and refresh the ‘made’ Plan through a formal review process.

1.6

Within the context set out above this report assesses whether the Plan is legally
compliant and meets the basic conditions that apply to neighbourhood plans. It also
considers the content of the Plan and, where necessary, recommends modifications to
its policies and supporting text.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 113

2
2

The Role of the Independent Examiner

2.1

The examiner’s role is to ensure that any submitted neighbourhood plan meets the
relevant legislative and procedural requirements.

2.2

I was appointed by EHDC, with the consent of ATC, to conduct the examination of the
Plan and to prepare this report. I am independent of both EHDC and ATC. I do not
have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan.

2.3

I possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role. I am a
Director of Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited. In previous roles, I have over 35 years’
experience in various local authorities at either Head of Planning or Service Director
level. I am a chartered town planner and have significant experience of undertaking
other neighbourhood plan examinations and health checks. I am a member of the
Royal Town Planning Institute and the Neighbourhood Planning Independent
Examiner Referral Service.
Examination Outcomes

2.4

The examination process for the review of a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan is set out in
Section 3 of this report.

2.5

The outcome of the examination is set out in Section 8 of this report.
Other examination matters

2.6

In examining the Plan I am required to check whether:
•
•

•

2.7

the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated
neighbourhood plan area; and
the Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the Plan must specify the period to which it
has effect, must not include provision about development that is excluded
development, and must not relate to more than one neighbourhood area); and
the Plan has been prepared for an area that has been designated under Section
61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and submitted for
examination by a qualifying body.

I have addressed the matters identified in paragraph 2.6 of this report. I am satisfied
that the submitted Plan complies with the three requirements subject to recommended
modifications included in this report.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 114

3
3

Procedural Matters

3.1

In undertaking this examination I have considered the following documents:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the submitted Plan.
the Basic Conditions Statement.
the Consultation Statement.
the EHDC SEA screening report (February 2021)
the EHDC HRA screening report (August 2021)
the Modifications Proposals Statement
the representations made to the Plan.
the Town Council’s responses to my Clarification Note.
the East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy (adopted June 2014)
the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021).
Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014 and subsequent updates).
relevant Ministerial Statements.

3.2

I visited the neighbourhood area on 22 July 2021. I looked at its overall character and
appearance and at those areas affected by policies in the Plan in particular. The visit
is covered in more detail in paragraphs 5.9 to 5.15 of this report.

3.3

It is a general rule that neighbourhood development plan examinations should be held
by written representations only. Having considered all the information before me,
including the representations made to the submitted plan, I was satisfied that the Plan
could be examined without the need for a public hearing. I advised EHDC of this
decision once I had received the responses to the questions in the clarification note.

3.4

The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 identifies the circumstances that might arise as
qualifying bodies seek to review ‘made’ neighbourhood plans. It introduces a
proportionate process for the modification of neighbourhood plans where a
neighbourhood development order or plan has already been made in relation to that
area.

3.5

There are three types of modification which can be made to a neighbourhood plan or
order. The process will depend on the degree of change which the modification
involves and as follows:
•

minor (non-material) modifications to a neighbourhood plan or order which
would not materially affect the policies in the plan or permission granted by the
order. These may include correcting errors, such as a reference to a supporting
document, and would not require examination or a referendum; or

•

material modifications which do not change the nature of the plan or order and
which would require examination but not a referendum. This might, for
example, entail the addition of a design code that builds on a pre-existing
design policy, or the addition of a site or sites which, subject to the decision of

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 115

4
the independent examiner, are not so significant or substantial as to change
the nature of the plan; or
•

material modifications which do change the nature of the plan or order would
require examination and a referendum. This might, for example, involve
allocating significant new sites for development.

3.6

ATC has considered this issue. It takes the view that the proposed changes to the
‘made’ Plan fall into the second category. The changes to the Plan relate to housing
delivery and allocated sites in Policy HO3. They are described in detail in Section 7 of
this report.

3.7

EHDC takes the same view as ATC on the scale and nature of the modifications to the
policies in the ‘made’ Plan.

3.8

I have considered these assessments very carefully. I have concluded that the review
of the Plan includes material modifications which do not change the nature of the Plan
and which would require examination but not a referendum. I have reached this
decision for the following reasons:
•
•

3.9

In these circumstances I will examine the Plan against Schedule A2 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The regulations identify that this report must
recommend one of three outcomes:
•
•
•

3.10

the policies largely update those in the ‘made’ Plan; and
the modifications in the review bring the Plan up to date to reflect changes in
national and local planning policy.

that the local planning authority should make the draft plan; or
that the local planning authority should make the draft plan with the
modifications specified in the report; or
that the local planning authority should not make the draft plan.

Section 7 of this report assesses the proposed changes to Policy HO3 and identifies
any modifications required to ensure that the policy meets the basic conditions. My
recommendation is then set out in Section 8.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 116

5
4

Consultation
Consultation Process

4.1

Policies in made neighbourhood plans become the basis for local planning and
development management decisions. As such the regulations require neighbourhood
plans to be supported and underpinned by public consultation.

4.2

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 the Town
Council has prepared a Consultation Statement. The Statement reflects the
neighbourhood area and its policies. It also provides specific details on the consultation
process that took place on the pre-submission version of the Plan from February to
March 2021.

4.3

The Statement sets out details of the consultation events that were carried out in
relation to the initial stages of the Plan. They were appropriate for the circumstances
of the Plan itself. Details are provided about the engagement with the statutory bodies
and the public consultation events in the area. Specific events and engagement
techniques highlighted included:
•
•
•

the councillor workshop sessions (October 2020);
the circulation of leaflets to all households (February 2021); and
the notifications provided to landowners and statutory consultees (February
2021).

4.4

The Statement sets out the range of local and statutory organisations that were advised
about the preparation of the Plan in general, and its pre-submission consultation phase
in particular. Appendix 1 reproduces the February 2021 leaflet. This gives life and
interest to the Statement.

4.5

The Statement also sets out details of the responses received to the consultation
process on the pre-submission version of the Plan. It also sets out how the Plan
responded to those representations. The exercise has been undertaken in a very
thorough fashion.

4.6

From all the evidence available to me as part of the examination, I have concluded that
the Plan has sought to develop an inclusive approach to seeking the opinions of all
concerned throughout the process. The consultation process undertaken is
proportionate to the nature of the review of the Plan. EHDC has carried out its own
assessment of this matter as part of the submission process and has concluded the
consultation process has complied with the requirements of the Regulations.
Representations Received

4.7

Consultation on the submitted plan was undertaken by EHDC that ended on 5 July
2021.This exercise generated comments from the statutory organisations listed below:

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 117

6
•
•
•
•
•
•
4.8

Havant Borough Council
Historic England
Natural England
South East Water
The Coal Authority
Waverley Borough Council

I have taken account of the three representations received as part of the examination
of the Plan. Indeed, the supporting nature of the comments highlights the professional
way in which the Plan has been reviewed.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 118

7
5

The Neighbourhood Area and the Development Plan Context
The Neighbourhood Area

5.1

The neighbourhood area is the administrative area covered by Alton Town Council. In
2011 it had a population of 17 816 persons living in 7755 households. It was originally
designated as a neighbourhood area on 8 May 2014.

5.2

The neighbourhood area is a very pleasant town set in an attractive wider natural
landscape. The town is located within a distinctive chalk landscape setting, at the
source of the River Wey. It sits relatively hidden in a hollow, which is encircled by
sloping downland that provides a green skyline. The northern edge of the South Downs
National Park lies to the immediate north west of the town. The A31 is located to the
south and east of the town.

5.3

As the Plan describes although Alton has expanded in recent decades, its built-up area
remains relatively contained within a tight-knit area. It has four elements - the central
older areas; the outer residential areas; the industrial areas; and Holybourne village.
There are four conservation Areas, three in Alton and one in Holybourne. The main
focus of the town centre is the High Street, which runs south-west to north-east, with
the Market Square just off this axis in Lenten Street. It is a commercial and social hub
for the town and its rural hinterland, and there is a popular weekly street market. The
town attracts pupils from the surrounding area to its secondary schools and sixth-form
college.
Development Plan Context

5.4

The development plan for East Hampshire District is the East Hampshire District Local
Plan Joint Core Strategy. It was adopted in May 2014 and covers the period to 2028.

5.5

Policies CP2 and CP10 of that Plan are particularly relevant to the formulation of the
submitted review of the neighbourhood plan. In the context of Policy CP10, Alton is
identified as one of a series of settlements where sustainable development will be
focused.

5.6

The review of the neighbourhood plan comments about delivery which has already
taken place in the town in the Plan period.
Unaccompanied Visit to the neighbourhood area

5.9

I visited the neighbourhood area on 22 July 2021. I approached the town from the A31
from the north. I parked on London Road and took the opportunity to walk into the town
centre.

5.10

I looked initially at the railway station. I saw its wider importance and significance in
the town. I also saw the adjacent Mid Hants Watercress railway platforms.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 119

8
5.11

I then looked at the former Alton Magistrate Court site. I saw the retired housing
development which was taking place.

5.12

I then walked into the commercial and retail part of the town centre. I saw its attractive
mix of national and independent shops and other related town centre uses.

5.13

I then walked to the Molson Coors site to the immediate south of High Street. I saw
that demolition was taking place and that the site was boarded up.

5.14

I walked back along High Street and up Church Street to St Lawrence Church.

5.15

I left the neighbourhood area on the B3349. This allowed me to understand the way in
which the town related to the countryside to its north.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 120

9
6

The Neighbourhood Plan and the Basic Conditions

6.1

This section of the report deals with the submitted neighbourhood plan as a whole and
the extent to which it meets the basic conditions. The submitted Basic Conditions
Statement has helped considerably in the preparation of this section of the report. It is
a well-presented and informative document. It is also proportionate to the Plan itself.

6.2

As part of this process I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic
Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990. To comply with the basic conditions, the Plan must:
•
•
•
•
•

6.3

have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State;
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in
the area;
be compatible with European Union (EU) obligations and European Convention
on Human Rights (ECHR); and
not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

I assess the Plan against the basic conditions under the following headings:
National Planning Policies and Guidance

6.4

.
6.5

For the purposes of this examination the key elements of national policy relating to
planning matters are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) issued
in July 2021.
The NPPF sets out a range of core land-use planning issues to underpin both planmaking and decision-taking. The following are of particular relevance to the Alton
Neighbourhood Plan Review:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

6.6

a plan led system – in this case the relationship between the neighbourhood
plan and the adopted Joint Core Strategy;
delivering a sufficient supply of homes;
building a strong, competitive economy;
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting
thriving local communities;
taking account of the different roles and characters of different areas;
highlighting the importance of high-quality design and good standards of
amenity for all future occupants of land and buildings; and
conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance.

Neighbourhood plans sit within this wider context both generally, and within the more
specific presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 13 of the NPPF
indicates that neighbourhoods should both develop plans that support the strategic

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 121

10
needs set out in local plans and plan positively to support local development that is
outside the strategic elements of the development plan.
6.7

In addition to the NPPF I have also taken account of other elements of national
planning policy including Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements.

6.8

Having considered all the evidence and representations available as part of the
examination I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to national planning
policies and guidance in general terms. It sets out a positive vision for the future of the
neighbourhood area giving appropriate weight to the strategic delivery of new housing
in East Hampshire.

6.9

At a more practical level the NPPF indicates that plans should provide a clear
framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made and that they
should give a clear indication of how a decision-maker should react to a development
proposal (paragraph 16d). This was reinforced with the publication of Planning
Practice Guidance in March 2014. Paragraph ID:41-041-20140306 indicates that
policies in neighbourhood plans should be drafted with sufficient clarity so that a
decision-maker can apply them consistently and with confidence when determining
planning applications. Policies should also be concise, precise and supported by
appropriate evidence.

6.10

As submitted the Plan does not fully accord with this range of practical issues. The
majority of my recommended modifications in Section 7 relate to matters of clarity and
precision. They are designed to ensure that the Plan fully accords with national policy.
Contributing to sustainable development

6.11

There are clear overlaps between national policy and the contribution that the
submitted Plan makes to achieving sustainable development. Sustainable
development has three principal dimensions – economic, social and environmental. It
is clear that the submitted review of the Plan has been designed to continue to achieve
sustainable development in the neighbourhood area. It has a particular focus on
promoting sustainable housing development in the town whilst safeguarding its built
and natural heritage.
General conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan

6.12

I have already commented in detail on the development plan context in East Hampshire
in paragraphs 5.4 to 5.8 of this report. I am satisfied that subject to the incorporation of
the modifications recommended in this report that the submitted Plan is in general
conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan.

6.13

I also consider that the submitted Plan delivers a local dimension to this strategic
context. The Basic Conditions Statement helpfully relates the Plan’s policies to policies
in the development plan. Subject to the recommended modifications in this report I am
satisfied that the submitted Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies in
the development plan.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 122

11
European Legislation and Habitat Regulations
6.14

The Neighbourhood Plan General Regulations 2015 require a qualifying body either to
submit an environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 or a statement of reasons
why an environmental report is not required.

6.15

In order to comply with this requirement EHDC published a screening report in
February 2021 on the need or otherwise for a Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SEA) to be prepared for the Plan. The report is thorough and well-constructed. It builds
on the work undertaken as part of the initial plan-making process. As a result of this
process, it concluded that the Plan is not likely to have any significant effects on the
environment and accordingly would not require SEA.

6.16

EHDC produced a separate screening report on habitats regulations assessment
(HRA) matters in August 2021. It takes account of the likely effects of development in
the neighbourhood area on the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area and
The Solent European sites.

6.17

The HRA screening report concludes that the Plan is not considered to have the
potential to cause a likely significant adverse effect on a European protected site. It
also concludes that there will be no likely significant in-combination effects. Its level of
detail provides assurance that this important matter has been comprehensively
addressed.

6.18

The screening reports include the responses received as part of the required
consultation. In doing so they provide assurance to all concerned that the submitted
Plan takes appropriate account of important ecological and biodiversity matters.

6.19

Having reviewed the information provided to me as part of the examination, I am
satisfied that a proportionate process has been undertaken in accordance with the
various regulations. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, I am entirely
satisfied that the submitted Plan is compatible with this aspect of European obligations.

6.20

In a similar fashion I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to the
fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on
Human Rights (ECHR) and that it complies with the Human Rights Act. There has been
full and adequate opportunity for all interested parties to take part in the preparation of
the Plan and to make their comments known. On the basis of all the evidence available
to me, I conclude that the submitted Plan does not breach, nor is in any way
incompatible with the ECHR.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 123

12
7

The details of the Neighbourhood Plan policies

7.1

This section of the report comments on the policies in the Plan. In particular, it
recommends detailed modifications to ensure that the Plan has the necessary
precision to meet the basic conditions.

7.2

My recommendations focus on Policy HO3 given that the basic conditions relate
primarily to the policies in neighbourhood plans.

7.3

I am satisfied that the content and the form of the Plan is fit for purpose. It is distinctive
and proportionate to the Plan area. The wider community and ATC have spent time
and energy in identifying the issues and objectives that they wish to be included in their
Plan. This sits at the heart of the localism agenda.

7.4

The Plan has been designed to reflect Planning Practice Guidance (Section 41-00420190509) which indicates that neighbourhood plans must address the development
and use of land.

7.5

Where modifications are recommended to policies they are highlighted in bold print.
Any associated or free-standing changes to the text of the Plan are set out in italic
print.
General Context to the Plan Review

7.6

The Modification Proposal Statement comments that ATC proposes to modify Policy
HO3 (New Housing Site Allocations) of the ‘made’ Plan. That policy has been modified
to:
•
•
•

•

remove two ‘made’ Plan allocations as a result of their being at the advanced
stages of build out and complete or almost complete;
retain two ‘made’ Plan allocations as a result of their either being at the early
stages of being built out or have not yet commenced;
modify two ‘made’ Plan allocations in terms of reduced development capacity
due to the Town Council now having further detailed information regarding site
constraints; and
make two new housing allocations - both sites are within the existing Settlement
Policy Boundary and are coming forward through the planning application
process (and in accordance with Policies CP2 Spatial Strategy and CP10
Spatial Strategy for Housing of the District Council’s Joint Core Strategy).

7.7

The current review of the Plan has been prepared in a very effective fashion. The
distinction between its supporting text and its policies is very clear. The Plan includes
a series of very helpful maps.

7.8

In addition the presentation of the Plan is very good. The package of submission
documents is proportionate to the neighbourhood area in general, and to the review of
the Plan in particular. In combination the documents helpfully identify the aspects of
the Plan which have been updated.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 124

13
7.9

The revisions to the made Plan has been very carefully considered. ATC’s ambition to
review the Plan responds positively to national guidance and associated best practice.
The Plan continues to provide a clear vision for the neighbourhood area. The review
addresses a balanced range of issues. It is underpinned by an appropriate evidence
base and properly takes account of the elements of the Plan which have been
implemented since it was ‘made’.

7.10

The review of the Plan is underpinned by a Modification Statement Proposal. It is a
first-class document. The wider approach which has been taken by ATC would be a
very useful and effective model for others to use in the review of their made
neighbourhood plans.
The modified Policy HO3

7.11

Policy HO3 is proposed to be modified to set out the housing supply provisions as of
January 2021 in respect of completions, commitments and allocations. The revised
housing supply total of 877 dwellings reflects losses and gains from the figures
included in the made Plan.

7.12

The losses consist of 21 dwellings from the original land off Wilsom Road (14
dwellings) and land east of Selbourne Road (7 dwellings) allocations (as a result of site
constraints at the planning application stages). The gains consist of two additional
proposed site allocations at Molson Coors (283 dwellings) and at Alton Magistrates
Court (43 dwellings) totalling 326 dwellings. Both new site allocations have come
forward through the planning application process. The Molson Coors site has received
a resolution to grant planning permission and the Alton Magistrates Court site has
already secured planning permission. The recalculation shows that the housing supply
figure continues to be in excess of what would have been its reasonable contribution
towards the objectively-assessed housing need for the District.

7.13

EHDC and ATC consider that the modifications are minor and not material. I am
satisfied that the modifications are minor in their nature. They update the Plan based
on the ongoing development of sites allocated in the made Plan and recent planning
permissions within the settlement boundary.

7.14

In presentational terms the modified policy incorporates two separate housing sites
(Molson Coors and the Magistrate Courts sites) into the same element of the policy.
This is unusual in its own right. In addition, it does not conform with the approach taken
elsewhere in the policy which shows one site per element of the policy. As such I
recommend that Policy HO3 (f) becomes Policy HO3 (f) and Policy HO3 (g) for Molson
Coors and the Magistrate Courts sites respectively. ATC responded positively to this
approach in its response to the clarification report

7.15

Once the Plan review is made it will become a free-standing document. As such I
recommend that some of the details in the Statement on the deletion of the two housing
sites included in the ‘made’ Plan is incorporated with the headings of the two former
elements of the policy (rather than ‘Deleted’ as currently drafted). This would provide
a better audit trail for the reader of the Plan in the future.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 125

14
This approach could also be usefully applied to the map on page 29 in general, and to
the striking out of the two sites concerned in the key in particular.
Reconfigure Policy HO3 (f) so that it becomes Policy HO3 (f) and Policy HO3 (g)
for Molson Coors and the Magistrate Courts sites respectively.
In Section 6 of the Plan replace ‘Deleted’ with ‘At an advanced stages of build out or
almost complete’ after the sub headings for HO3(b) and HO3(d)’
On the key on the map on page 29 replace the line through sites 3 and 5 with the site
number and name followed by: ‘as at April 2021 at an advanced stages of build out or
almost complete’
Other Matters – General
7.16

This report has recommended a series of modifications both to the policies and to the
supporting text in the submitted Plan. Where consequential changes to the text are
required directly as a result of my recommended modification to the policy concerned,
I have highlighted them in this report. However other changes to the general text may
be required elsewhere in the Plan as a result of the recommended modifications to the
policies. It will be appropriate for EHDC and ATC to have the flexibility to make any
necessary consequential changes to the general text. I recommend accordingly.
Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency with the
modified policies.
Other Matters – Specific

7.17

The modified Plan has been prepared since 2020 within the context of the 2019 version
of the NPPF. In July 2021 an updated version of the NPPF was published.

7.18

The principal changes between the two versions of the NPPF relate to design matters.
Given that the design policies in the Plan are general in nature I am satisfied that there
the submitted Plan continues to have regard to national policy. Nevertheless, I
recommend that the supporting text is expanded to address the updated NPPF.
At the end the second paragraph of supporting text under the Policy DE2 heading (on
page 20) add: 'This approach is consistent with the design-led approach as captured
in national planning policy. The Plan sets out the Council's approach towards a clear
design vision and expectations for development sites. This will ensure that applicants
have as much certainty as possible about what is likely to be acceptable'

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 126

15
8

Summary and Conclusions
Summary

8.1

The Review of the ‘made’ Plan sets out a range of policies to guide and direct
development proposals in the period up to 2028. It has been carefully prepared to
refresh the Plan and to address changes in national and local planning policy which
have arisen since the initial plan was ‘made’.
Conclusion

8.2

Following my independent examination of the Plan I have concluded that the Alton
Neighbourhood Development Plan Review meets the basic conditions for the
preparation of a neighbourhood plan subject to a series of recommended
modifications.

8.3

The recommended modifications refine the presentation of the proposed modifications
to Policy HO3. Nevertheless, the submitted review of the Plan remains fundamentally
unchanged in its role and purpose.

8.4

I recommend that East Hampshire District Council should make the draft plan subject
to the modifications set out in this report.
General Comments

8.5

I am grateful to everyone who has helped in any way to ensure that this examination
has run in a smooth manner. The District Council managed the process in a very
efficient way and the Town Council’s response to the clarification note was both speedy
and helpful.

Andrew Ashcroft
Independent Examiner
31 August 2021

Alton Neighbourhood Plan Review – Examiner’s Report

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

